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Statement of the Issuer

K&H Bank Zrt., as the Issuer (represented by Hendrik Scheerlinck, CEO and Attila Gombas, CFO)
hereby declare that the Year 2016 Annual Report and the Year 2016 Consolidated Annual Report of
K&H Bank Zrt. have been prepared to the best of the Issuer's knowledge, in compliance with the
applicable accounting laws and regulations, and the financial details contained therein reflect a true
and reliable status of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profitability of K&H Bank Zrt. and the
companies involved in the consolidation, and the Management Report and Consolidated Management
Report show a true and fair picture of the position, development and performance of K&H Bank Zrt.
and the companies involved in the consolidation, including the major risks and uncertainties factors.

Budapest, April 28 2017

Hendrik Scheerlinck Attila Gombas
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
(Free translation)

To the shareholder of K&H Bank Zrt.
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of K&H Bank Zrt. (“the Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as of
31 December 2016 (in which the consolidated balance sheet total is MHUF 2,825,697), the consolidated
income statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive income (the total profit after tax for the year
is MHUF 38,877), the consolidated statement of changes in equity, the consolidated cash flows statement for
the year then ended and the notes to the consolidated financial statements including a summary of the
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2016, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hungarian National Standards on Auditing (“HNSA”) and with
applicable laws and regulations in force in Hungary. Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements” section of
our report.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the consolidated financial statements in Hungary. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with those requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. :

Other information: the consolidated business report

The other information comprises the consolidated business report of the Group. Management is responsible
for the preparation of the consolidated business report in accordance with the provisions of Act C of 2000 on
Accounting (the “Accounting Act”) in force in Hungary and other relevant regulations. Our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements does not cover the consolidated business report.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
consolidated business report and, in doing so, consider whether the consolidated business report is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

Based on the Accounting Act, in respect of the consolidated business report, our responsibility is to read the
consolidated business report identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the consolidated business
report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Accounting Act and other relevant
regulations, if any.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Konyuvvizsgdlé Kft., 1055 Budapest, Bajesy-Zsilinszky 1t 78.
T: +36 1 461 9100, F: +36 1 461 9115, www.pwc.com/hu
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In our opinion, the 2016 consolidated business report of the Group, is consistent with the 2016 consclidated
financial statements and the consolidated business report has been prepared in accordance with the
Accounting Act.

As there is no other regulation prescribing further requirements for the consolidated business report, in
respect of this, our opinion on the consolidated business report does not express the opinion required by
Section (5) h) of 156 of the Accounting Act.

In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the entity and its environment obtained in the
course of the audit, we are required to report if we have identified material misstatements in the consolidated
business report, and shall give an indication of the nature of any such misstatements. We have nothing to
report in this respect.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated
financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HNSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HNSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.



Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that gives a true and fair view.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

Budapest, 13 April 2017

Arpéad Balazs

Partner

Statutory auditor

Licence

number: 006931

PricewaterhouseCoopers Konyvvizsgalo Kft.
1055 Budapest, Bajesy-Zsilinszky ut 78.

Licence

Number: 001464

Translation note:

Our report has been prepared in Hungarian and in English. In all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the
Hungarian version of our report takes precedence over the English version.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Restated
Notes 2016 2015
MHUF MHUF
Interest income 93 389 101 807
Interest expense (23 367) (27 973)
Net interest income 3;40 70 022 73 834
Fee and commission income 69 696 69 943
Fee and commission expense (17 054) (17 686)
Net fee and commission income 4 52 642 52 257
Net gains / (losses) from financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss and from foreign exchange 5 20900 17 785
Net realised gains / (losses) from available-for-sale assets 6 5288 665
Dividend income 7 2 -
Other net income / (expense) 8 14728 18 130
Total income 163 582 162 671
Operating expenses (98 280) (102 095)
Staff expenses 11;40 (34 341) (32 078)
General administrative expenses 9 (48 389) (47 386)
Depreciation and amortisation of tangible
and intangible assets 32;33 (7 993) (6 876)
Bank tax 10 (7 557) (15 755)
Impairment: 3;14 (10 091) (13 090)
Loans and receivables 26 (9134) (12 288)
Other (957) (802
Share in results of associated companies 13 - -
Profit / (loss) before tax 55 211 47 486
Income tax expense 14 (16 334) (9 663)
Profit / (loss) after tax 38 877 37 823
Earnings / (loss) per share in HUF (basic) 15 0.2757664 0.2682901
The figures of earnings / (loss) per share calculated for basic and diluted shares do not differ.
The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements. 4



K&H BANK ZRT.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Profit / (loss) after tax
Other comprehensive income

Available-for-sale equity instruments
Amounts to be reclassified subsequently to the income
statement:
Net gain / (loss) from fair value changes
Deferred tax impact on fair value changes

Transfer from available for sale reserve to net profit:
(Losses)/ gains on disposal
Deferred income tax

Available for sale debt instruments
Amounts to be reclassified subsequently to the income
statement:
Net gain / (loss) from fair value changes
Deferred tax impact on fair value changes

Transfer from available for sale reserve to net profit:
(Losses)/ gains on disposal
Amortisation of reclassified assets
Deferred income tax

Cash flow hedge
Amounts to be reclassified subsequently to the income
statement:
Net gain / (loss) from fair value changes
Deferred tax impact on fair value changes

Transfer from cash flow hedge reserve to net profit:
Ineffective part
Gross amount
Deferred income tax
Other

Total other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

Restated

Notes 2016 2015
MHUF MHUF

38 877 37 823

16 292 4 349
29 (32) (897)
6 (4 565) -
29 494 -
16 3118 869
29 (337) (179)
6 (723) (665)
(31) (82)

29 82 154
1148 607
29 (103) (125)
27 272 394
27 (100) (675)
29 (16) 58
29 2132 -
1631 3808

40 508 41 631

Other includes the impact of the expected change of the applied income tax rate in 2017 (see Note 14).

Approved by the Board of Directors on 13 April 2017.

Hendrik Scheerlinck Attila Gombas
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
Member of the Board Member of the Board
The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements. 5



K&H BANK ZRT.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Restated as at

Restated 1 January
Notes 2016 2015 2015
MHUF MHUF MHUF
ASSETS
Cash and cash balances with central banks 222 020 68 715 77 547
Financial assets 16 2534120 2431 286 2 263 847
Held for trading 27 95 274 81735 99 529
of which assets pledged as collateral 16 - 4674 -
Designated at fair value through profit or loss - - 2 571
Available for sale 25 193 110 163 245 126 579
of which assets pledged as collateral 16 79 868 51 081 1885
Loans and receivables 23 1803 046 1746 912 1602 485
of which assets pledged as collateral 16 7 049 13 900 15410
Held to maturity 16 426 237 428 371 421 915
of which assets pledged as collateral 16 225 838 235 747 214 081
Hedging derivatives 27 16 453 11023 10 768
Tax assets 2750 13 902 13 655
Current tax assets 2400 7 803 1691
Deferred tax assets 29 350 6 099 11 964
Investments in associated companies 30 542 542 542
Investment property 31 1010 740 850
Property and equipment 32 38 252 37 457 39 324
Intangible assets 33 12 060 11723 10 048
Other assets 28 14 943 18 790 37 213
Total assets 2 825 697 2 583 155 2 443 026
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Financial liabilities 16 2512972 2 286 854 2176 854
Held for trading 27 31 806 35 859 46 142
Designated at fair value through profit or loss 21 200 131 216 315 196 709
Measured at amortised cost 16 2277915 2 034 669 1933 865
Hedging derivatives 27 3120 11 138
Fair value changes of hedged item under portfolio
hedge of interest rate risk 27 6 185 3 164 1236
Tax liabilities 36 15 12
Current tax liabilities 36 15 12
Provisions for risks and charges and credit
commitments 26;34 2 437 7765 53 249
Other liabilities 35;40 43 020 64 818 32767
Total liabilities 2 564 650 2 362616 2264 118
Share capital 36 140 978 140 978 140 978
Share premium 48 775 48 775 48 775
Accumulated profit 39724 5560 (29 055)
Other reserves 31570 25 226 18 210
Total equity 36;46 261 047 220 539 178 908
Total liabilities and equity 2 825 697 2 583 155 2443 026
Approved by the Board of Directors on 13 April 2017.
Hendrik Scheerlinck Attila Gombas
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
Member of the Board Member of the Board

For breakdown of assets and liabilities by remaining maturity see Note 24.

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements. 6



K&H BANK ZRT.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Statutory Available Cash flow Restated Restated

Share Share risk for sale hedge Retained Total

capital premium reserve reserve reserve earnings equity

MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF
2015
Balance at the beginning of the
period 140 978 48 775 5 541 8 662 4 007 (28 247) 179716
Restatement (Note 2.7) - - - - - (808) (808)
Restated balance at the beginning
of the period 140 978 48 775 5541 8 662 4 007 (29 055) 178 908
Net profit for the year

- - - - - 37 823 37 823
Other comprehensive income for
the period (Note 5) - - - 3549 259 - 3808
Total comprehensive income
- - - 3 549 259 37015 40 823

Transfer from retained earnings to
statutory risk reserve (Note 46) - - 3208 - - (3 208) -
Total change - - 3208 3549 259 33 807 40 823
Balance at the end of the period 140 978 48 775 8 749 12 211 4 266 5 560 220 539
of which revaluation reserve for
shares (Note 16) - - - 3452 - -
of which revaluation reserve for
bonds (Note 16) - - - 8759 - -
2016
Balance at the beginning of the
period 140 978 48 775 8749 12 211 4 266 5 560 220 539
Net profit for the year - - - - - 38 877 38 877
Other comprehensive income for
the period (Note 5) - - - (195) 1826 - 1631
Total comprehensive income - - - (195) 1826 38 877 40 508
Transfer from statutory risk reserve
to retained earnings (Note 46) - - 4713 - - (4 713) -
Total change - - 4713 (195) 1826 34 164 40 508
Balance at the end of the period 140 978 48 775 13 462 12 016 6 092 39 724 261 047
of which revaluation reserve for
shares (Note 16) - - - 68 - -
of which revaluation reserve for
bonds (Note 16) - - - 11 948 - -

No dividend was paid in 2016 (and in 2015). For dividend proposed on ordinary shares in 2017 see Note 46.

Approved by the Board of Directors on 13 April 2017.

Hendrik Scheerlinck Attila Gombas
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
Member of the Board Member of the Board

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements. 7



K&H BANK ZRT.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit / (loss) before tax

Adjustments for:
Interest income
Interest expense
Net transfer from available for sale reserve
Net transfer from cash flow hedge reserve
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, available-for-sale financial
assets and other assets
(Profit)/Loss on the disposal of property and equipment
(Profit)/Loss on the disposal of investment property
(Profit)/Loss on the disposal of subsidiaries
Change in impairment on loans and advances and Held-to
maturity assets”
Change in other provisions
Unrealised valuation differences

Cash flows from operating profit / (loss) before tax and before
changes in operating assets and liabilities

Changes in financial assets held for trading

Changes in financial assets designated at fair value through
profit or loss

Changes in financial assets held to maturity
Reclassification of assets from available-for-sale to held-to-
maturity portfolio

Changes in financial assets available for sale

Changes in loans and receivables

Changes in other assets

Changes in operating assets

Changes in financial liabilities held for trading

Changes in financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss

Changes in financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Changes in other liabilities

Changes in operating liabilities
Income taxes paid
Interest received

Interest paid

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities

Restated
Notes 2016 2015
MHUF MHUF
55211 47 486
3 (93 389) (101 807)
3 23 367 27 973
6 (5319) (747)
5 172 (281)
32;33 8 897 7 691
8 (156) (260)
8 (20) (57)
8 (1) -
12;26 9 203 12 288
34 (1 344) (9 109)
5 (334) (17 694)
(3713) (34 517)
(13 091) 24 835
- 2483
2 699 (483)
(27 821) -
(30 745) (30 819)
173 697 (346 862)
9210 12 319
113 949 (338 527)
(3111) (8 193)
(15 315) 19 607
255 407 204 190
(22 000) (3 888)
214 981 211716
(8 365) (4 788)
94 703 104 284
(23 701) (27 569)
387 854 (89 401)

* Including impairments on loans and receivables and loan commitments.

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements.



K&H BANK ZRT.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Restated
Notes 2016 2015
MHUF MHUF
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of held-to-maturity securities (75 800) (80 762)
Proceeds from the disposal of held-to-maturity securities 23404 20 000
Proceeds from the repayment of held-to-maturity
securities at maturity 77 558 52 477
Proceeds from the disposal of a subsidiary or business
unit, net of cash disposed 4 598 -
Purchase of intangible fixed assets 33 (3798) (4 368)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 32 (6 884) (3607)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 32 613 894
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities
19 691 (15 366)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities - -
CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 407 545 (104 767)
Net foreign exchange difference (2 228) 7439
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 202 213 299 541
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period 607 530 202 213

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements.



K&H BANK ZRT.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Restated
Notes 2016 2015
MHUF MHUF
OPERATING CASH FLOWS FROM DIVIDENDS
Dividends received 7 2 -
COMPONENTS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash balances with central banks 222 020 68 715
Loans and advances to banks repayable on demand and
term loans to banks < 3 months 16 430 441 190 927
Deposits from banks repayable on demand and redeemable
at notice 16 (44 931) (57 429)
Total cash and cash equivalents 607 530 202 213

The difference between the interest cash flow and the interest result is immaterial. The interest cash flow results from
the Group’s banking activity and is part of the operating cash flow. For further information see Note 3.

Loans and advances to banks repayable on demand and term loans to banks < 3 months are recorded as Loans and
receivables in the consolidated statement of financial position. Deposits from banks repayable on demand and
redeemable at notice are presented as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

The Group uses the indirect method for presentation of cash flows resulting from operating activities.

Approved by the Board of Directors on 13 April 2017.

Hendrik Scheerlinck Attila Gombas
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
Member of the Board Member of the Board

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements. 10



K&H BANK ZRT.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 — GENERAL

Kereskedelmi és Hitelbank Zartkorien Mikodd Részvénytarsasag (“K&H Bank Zrt.” or “the Bank”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in Hungary. K&H Bank Zrt. and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) provide a full range of banking
services through a nation-wide network of 207 branches. As at 31 December 2016 K&H Bank Zrt.’s registered office
was at Lechner Odén fasor 9, Budapest.

The parent company of K&H Bank Zrt. is KBC Bank N.V. The ultimate parent is KBC Group N.V.

NOTE 2 — ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are summarised below.
2.1 Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for held-for trading financial
instruments, financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale financial assets and
hedging derivatives, which have been measured at fair value. The carrying values of recognized assets and liabilities
that are hedged items in fair value hedges, and otherwise carried at amortised cost, are adjusted to record changes in
fair value attributable to the risk that are being hedged.

The Group maintains its accounting records and prepares its statutory accounts in accordance with commercial
banking and fiscal regulations prevailing in Hungary. The Group's functional currency is the Hungarian Forint ("HUF").
All balances are presented in millions of Hungarian Forints ("MHUF") unless otherwise stated.

2.1.1 Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) and all applicable IFRSs that have been adopted by the EU.

Effective 1 January 2005, the change in the Hungarian Accounting Act allows the Group to prepare its consolidated
financial statements in accordance with IFRS that have been adopted by the EU.

Certain accounting principles prescribed for statutory purposes are different from IFRS. In order to present the
financial position and results of operations of the Group in accordance with IFRS certain adjustments have been
made to the Group’s Hungarian consolidated statutory accounts. Details on these adjustments are presented in note
44,

2.1.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Bank and all entities it controlled as
at 31 December 2016. The Bank and the entities which it controls are referred to collectively as “the Group”. Control
is presumed to exist if all of the following conditions are met:

o the Bank has power over the entity;
o the Bank has exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee;
e the Bank has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.

In case of the Bank’s exclusive control the effects of all material intercompany balances and transactions are
eliminated.

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements. 11



K&H BANK ZRT.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2 — ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

An investment in an associate is one in which the Bank holds, directly or indirectly, more than 20% of the voting rights
and over which the Group exercises significant influence but which it does not control. Associates are accounted for
under the equity method of accounting, and the pro-rata share of their income (loss) is included in the consolidated
income statement. The Group's interest in an associate is carried in the consolidated statement of financial position
at an amount that reflects its share of the net assets of the associate.

A list of subsidiary and associated companies is provided in Note 42.
2.2 Significant accounting judgements and estimates

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, Management has used its judgements and made
estimates in determining the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements. The most significant use
of judgements and estimates are as follows:

Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the consolidated statement of financial
position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that
include the use of mathematical models. The input to these models is taken from observable markets where possible,
but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. The judgements include
considerations of liquidity and model inputs such as correlation and volatility for longer dated derivatives. For the
sensitivity of the judgements used for fair value calculation see Note 20 and Note 45.3.

Allowance for impairment of loans and receivables and provision for commitments and contingent liabilities

The Group regularly reviews its loans and receivables, its commitments and contingent liabilities to assess
impairment. The Group applies its judgement on the basis of experience to estimate the amount of any impairment
loss in cases where a borrower is in financial difficulties and where there is little available historical data relating to
similar borrowers. Similarly, the Group estimates changes in future cash flows based on the observable data
indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a group, or national or local
economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the group. Management uses estimates based on
historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to
those in the group of loans and receivables.

Provision for litigations and claims

The amount of provision required to meet losses incurred as a result of litigations and claims is another principal area
of estimation uncertainty in these financial statements. Refer to note 34 for further details.

2.3 Changes in accounting policies

Changes in IFRSs

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has introduced numerous changes to the Standards that
became effective in 2016.

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements. 12



K&H BANK ZRT.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2 — ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The changes in accounting policies result from adoption of the following revised standards:

IAS1 Disclosure Initiative (amendment)

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28)
IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting

IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (amendment)

IAS 38 Intangible Assets (amendment)

IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (amendment)

IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants (amendment)

IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations (amendment)

Annual improvements to IFRSs 2014

Where transition provisions in IFRSs adopted give an entity a choice of whether to apply the new standard
prospectively or retrospectively the Group has elected to apply the standard prospectively from the date of transition.

IAS1 Disclosure Initiative (amendment)

The amendments clarify that information should not be obscured by aggregating or by providing immaterial
information. Materiality considerations apply to all parts of the financial statements.

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28)

The amendments confirm that the exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements for an intermediate
parent entity is available to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity, even if the investment entity
measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value.

IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

Assets (or disposal companies) are generally disposed of either through sale or distribution to owners. The
amendment clarifies that changing from one of these disposal methods to the other would not be considered a new
plan of disposal, rather it is a continuation of the original plan. There is, therefore, no interruption of the application
of the requirements in IFRS 5. This amendment must be applied prospectively.

IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting

The amendment clarifies that the required interim disclosures must either be in the interim financial statements or
incorporated by cross-reference between the interim financial statements and wherever they are included within the
interim financial report (e.g., in the management commentary or risk report). The other information within the interim
financial report must be available to users on the same terms as the interim financial statements and at the same
time. This amendment must be applied retrospectively.

IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (amendment)

The requirements of IAS 16 are amended to clarify that a depreciation method that is based on revenue that is
generated by an activity that includes the use of an asset is not appropriate. This is because such method reflects of
economic benefits that arise from the operation of the business of which an asset is part, rather than the pattern of
consumption of an asset’s expected future economic benefits.

IAS 38 Intangible Assets (amendment)

The requirements of IAS 38 are amended to introduce a rebuttable presumption that a revenue-based amortisation
method for intangible assets is inappropriate for the same reasons as in IAS 16. However, the amendments states
that there are limited circumstances when the presumption can be overcome: that the intangible asset is expressed
as a measure of revenue and it can be demonstrated that revenue and the consumption of economic benefits of the
intangible asset are highly correlated.

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements. 13



K&H BANK ZRT.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2 — ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (amendment)

The amendments allow an entity to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in its
separate financial statements at cost in accordance with the IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement for entities or using the equity method as described in IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures.

The amendments also clarify that when a parent ceases to be an investment entity, or becomes an investment entity,
it shall account for the change from the date when the change in status occurred.

IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations (amendment)

The amendments of IFRS 11 such that the acquirer of an interest in a joint operation in which the activity constitutes
a business, as defined in IFRS 3, is required to apply all of the principles on business combinations accounting in
IFRS 3 and other IFRSs with the exception of those principles that conflict with the guidance in IFRS 11.

IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants (amendment)

For the purpose of bringing bearer plants from the scope of IAS 41 into the scope of IAS 16 and therefore enabling
entities to measure them at cost subsequent to initial recognition or at revaluation, a definition of a 'bearer plant' is
introduced into both standards. A bearer plant is defined as "a living plant that: is used in the production or supply of
agricultural produce; is expected to bear produce for more than one period; and has a remote likelihood of being sold
as agricultural product, except for incidental scrap sales”. The scope sections of both standards are then amended
to clarify that biological assets except for bearer plants are accounted for under IAS 41 while bearer plants are
accounted for under IAS 16.

Annual improvements to IFRSs 2014

The amendment to IFRS 7 adds guidance to help management determine whether the terms of an arrangement to
service a financial asset which has been transferred constitute continuing involvement, for the purposes of
disclosures required by IFRS 7. The amendment also clarifies that the offsetting disclosures of IFRS 7 are not
specifically required for all interim periods, unless required by IAS 34.

The amendment to IAS 19 clarifies that for post-employment benefit obligations, the decisions regarding discount
rate, existence of deep market in high-quality corporate bonds, or which government bonds to use as a basis, should
be based on the currency that the liabilities are denominated in, and not the country where they arise.

The amendments have no major impact on the consolidated financial statements.
2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
2.4.1 Foreign currency translation

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into HUF at exchange rates quoted by the
National Bank of Hungary as at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position. Income and expenses
arising in foreign currencies are converted at the rate of exchange on the transaction date. Resulting foreign
exchange gains or losses are recorded in the consolidated income statement.

2.4.2 Financial instruments

Financial instruments are classified for measurement purposes as either financial instruments at fair value through
profit or loss, financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost or available-for-sale financial
instruments, as appropriate. When financial instruments are recognized initially, they are measured at fair value, plus,
in the case of financial instruments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. The
Group determines the classification of its financial instruments after initial recognition and, where allowed and
appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial year-end.

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements. 14
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K&H BANK ZRT.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2 — ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4.2.1 Trade and settlement date accounting

All “regular way” purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the settlement date, i.e. the date the
asset is delivered to the counterparty. Regular way purchases or sales are those that require delivery of assets within
the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place.

2.4.2.2 Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets and financial liabilities classified in this category are designated by Management on initial recognition
when the following criteria are met:

o the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise from
measuring the assets or liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them on a different basis; or

e the assets and liabilities are part of a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both which are managed
and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management
or investment strategy; or

e the financial instrument contains an embedded derivative, unless the embedded derivative does not
significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear, with little or no analysis, that it would not be separately
recorded.

Financial instruments classified as held-for-trading instruments are also included in the category ‘financial instruments
at fair value through profit or loss’. Financial instruments are classified as held-for-trading instruments if they are
acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. Derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated and effective hedging instruments.

Instruments classified as financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss subsequently are measured at fair
value, whereby in case of interest-bearing assets the change of the difference between the fair value and the
amortised cost is recorded in the consolidated income statement as Net gains / (losses) from financial instruments
at fair value through profit or loss and from foreign exchange. The interest component is recognized as interest
income using the effective interest rate method.

The change in the fair value of non-interest-bearing assets is recorded in the consolidated income statement as Net
gains / (losses) from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss and from foreign exchange.

2.4.2.3 Derivatives

The Group enters into derivative instruments including FRA’s, forwards, swaps and options in the foreign exchange
and money markets. Derivatives are stated at fair value. The fair value of a derivative is the equivalent of the
unrealised gain or loss from marking to market the derivative using prevailing market rates or internal pricing models.
Derivatives with positive fair values (unrealised gains) are included in assets and derivatives with negative fair values
(unrealised losses) are included in liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Derivatives are classified as either trading or hedging. For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified
into two categories: (a) fair value hedges which hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognized
asset or liability; and (b) cash flow hedges which hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable
to a particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability or a forecasted transaction.

At inception of the hedge relationship, the Group formally documents the relationship between the hedged item and
the hedging instrument, including the nature of the risk, the objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge and the
method that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship.

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements. 15



K&H BANK ZRT.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2 — ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Also at the inception of the hedge relationship, a formal assessment is undertaken to ensure the hedging instrument
is expected to be highly effective in offsetting the designated risk in the hedged item. Hedges are formally assessed
regularly. The frequency is defined in the hedging document. A hedge is regarded as highly effective if the changes
in fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk during the period for which the hedge is designated are
expected to offset in a range of 80% to 125%. For situations where that hedged item is a forecast transaction, the
Group assesses whether the transaction is highly probable and presents an exposure to variations in cash flows that
could ultimately affect the consolidated income statement.

In relation to fair value hedges which meet the conditions for hedge accounting, any gains or losses from re-measuring the hedging
instrument to fair value are recognized immediately in the consolidated income statement. The hedged item is adjusted for fair
value changes relating to the risk being hedged and the difference is recognized in the consolidated income statement.

In relation to cash flow hedges which meet the conditions for hedge accounting, the portion of the gain or loss on the
hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognized initially in the consolidated other
comprehensive income in the cash flow hedge reserve and the ineffective portion is recognized in the consolidated
income statement. The gains or losses on effective cash flow hedges recognized initially in the consolidated other
comprehensive income are either transferred to the consolidated income statement in the period in which the hedged
transaction impacts the consolidated income statement or included in the initial measurement of the cost of the
related non-financial asset or liability.

For hedges which do not qualify for hedge accounting and trading derivatives, any gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are taken directly to the consolidated income statement for the
period.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or no
longer qualifies for hedge accounting. At that point in time, the cumulative gain or loss on a cash flow hedge
recognized in the consolidated other comprehensive income remains in the consolidated other comprehensive
income until the forecasted transaction occurs, when it is then transferred to the consolidated income statement for
the period. Also at that time an item subject to a fair value hedge ceases to be revalued.

Cash flows from hedging activities are classified in the same line in the consolidated statement of cash flows as the
item being hedged. When a forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss on the
hedging instrument is recognized immediately in the consolidated income statement in Net gains / (losses) from
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss and from foreign exchange.

The Group assesses whether an embedded derivative needs to be separated from the host contract and accounted
for as a derivative when it first becomes a party to a contract. There is no subsequent reassessment.

2.4.2.4 Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
2.4.2.4.1 Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses
are recognized in the consolidated income statement when the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired,
as well as through the amortisation process.
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2.4.2.4.2 Financial liabilities at amortised cost

All money market and customer deposits are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs. After initial
recognition, all interest bearing deposits, other than liabilities held for trading and other than financial liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss, are subsequently measured at amortised cost, less amounts repaid.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on settlement. Premiums and discounts
are amortised on a systematic basis to maturity using the effective interest method and taken to interest expense.
For liabilities carried at amortised cost (which are not part of a hedging relationship), any gains or losses from
revaluation to fair value are recognized in the consolidated income statement when liability is derecognized.

2.4.2.4.3 Held-to-maturity instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held-to-
maturity when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Instruments intended to be held for
an undefined period are not included in this classification. Held-to-maturity instruments are subsequently measured
at amortised cost. This cost is computed as the amount initially recognized minus principal repayments, plus or minus
the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between the initially recognized
amount and the maturity amount. This calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the
contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums and discounts.

For instruments carried at amortised cost, gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated income statement
when the instruments are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

The Group is not allowed to classify any financial assets as held to maturity if the Group has, during the current
financial year or during the two preceding financial years, sold or reclassified more than an insignificant amount of
held-to-maturity investments before maturity (more than insignificant in relation to the total amount of held-to-maturity
investments) other than sales or reclassifications that:

e are so close to maturity or the financial asset’s call date (less than three months before maturity) that changes
in the market rate of interest would not have a significant effect on the financial asset’s fair value;

e occur after the Group has collected substantially all of the financial asset’s original principal through
scheduled payments or prepayments; or

e are attributable to an isolated event that is beyond the Group’s control, is non-recurring and could not have
been reasonably anticipated by the Group.

Sales out of held-to-maturity instruments can be considered insignificant if on a yearly basis, the sales do not exceed
5% of the carrying amount of held-to-maturity instruments on 1 January of that financial year.

2.4.2.5 Available-for-sale financial instruments

Available-for-sale financial instruments are those non-derivative financial instruments that are designated as
available-for-sale or are not classified as:

¢ financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, or
¢ |oans and advances and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost, or
¢ held-to-maturity instruments.

After initial recognition available-for sale financial instruments are measured at fair value with gains or losses being
recognized as a separate component of equity until the instrument is derecognized or until the instrument is
determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in the consolidated other
comprehensive income is included in the consolidated income statement. However, interest calculated using the
effective interest method is recognized in the consolidated income statement.
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The fair value of instruments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by reference to
quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the statement of financial position date. For instruments where
there is no active market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent
arm’s length market transactions, reference to the current fair value of another instrument, which is substantially the
same and discounted cash flow analysis.

Available-for-sale investments include investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in
an active market, and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured. These investments are measured at cost less
impairment.

2.4.2.6 Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments

The fair value measurements are classified into the levels of fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the
inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)

Level 3 inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety shall be
determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. For
this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the fair value measurement in its entirety. If a fair value
measurement uses observable inputs that require significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs, that
measurement is a Level 3 measurement.

The Group assesses the significance of fair value adjustments at portfolio level in function of the proportion of the
fair value adjustment relative to the size of the underlying portfolio.

A fair value adjustment related to the unobservable input is considered to be material for the Group if this fair value
adjustment makes up at least 5% of the nominal exposure of the underlying portfolio.

Changes to the fair value classification

The classification of a financial instrument into the fair value hierarchy is not static. Financial instruments can shift
between different fair value levels for various reasons, for instance:

e Market changes: The market can become inactive. As a result, previously observable parameters can
become unobservable (possible shift from level 1 to level 2 or 3);

e Model changes: The application of a new refined model that takes more observable input factors into account
or reduces the fair value impact of unobservable inputs (possible shift from level 3 to level 2);

e Change in sensitivity: The sensitivity of a valuation input to the entire fair value may change over time. An
unobservable input that used to be significant to the entire fair value measurement may become insignificant
(or vice versa). The fair value classification in the hierarchy would consequently change from level 3 to level
2 (or vice versa).

The above examples illustrate that defining the fair value classification of a financial instrument can only be made
taking into account changing market circumstances, upgraded models and the sensitivity of the valuation inputs. With
this regard, the fair value classification per instrument/portfolio is reassessed by the Group on a regular basis.
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2.4.3 Day 1 profit

For financial instruments at fair value fair value at initial recognition is best evidenced by the transaction price. A gain
or loss on initial recognition is only recorded if there is a difference between fair value and transaction price which
can be evidenced by other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or by a valuation technique
whose inputs include only data from observable markets.

For other financial instruments, for which the transaction price is calculated using a valuation technique with level 3
inputs, the difference is initially recognised within (other) assets or (other) liabilities and are subsequently amortised
on a straight line basis over the term of the instrument.

2.4.4 Repo and reverse repo agreements

Assets sold with a simultaneous commitment to repurchase at a specified future date (repos) continue to be
recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position and are measured in accordance with accounting
policies for trading securities or investment securities if the repurchase price is not fair value at the time of
reacquisition. The counterparty liability for amounts received under these agreements is included in financial liabilities
measured at amortised cost. The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest expense and
accrued over the life of the repo agreement. Assets purchased with a corresponding commitment to resell at a
specified future date (reverse repos) are not recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position, as the
Group does not obtain control over the assets. Amounts paid under these agreements are included in loans and
receivables. The difference between purchase and resale price is treated as interest income and accrued over the
life of the reverse repo agreement.

2.4.5 Securities lending and borrowing

Securities lending and borrowing transactions are usually collateralised by securities or cash. The transfer of the
securities to counterparties is only reflected on the consolidated statement of financial position if the risks and rewards
of ownership are also transferred. Cash advanced or received as collateral is recorded as an asset or liability.

Securities borrowed are not recognized on the consolidated statement of financial position, unless they are sold to
third parties, in which case the obligation to return the securities is recorded as a trading liability and measured at
fair value with any gain or losses included in Net gains / (losses) from financial instruments at fair value through profit
or loss and from foreign exchange.

2.4.6 Allowances for impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is any objective evidence that a
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is deemed to be
impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Impairment of financial assets shall be utilized at derecognition due to uncollectibility or transfer of ownership.
In case of equity instruments objective evidence of impairment exists if the fair value is significantly or permanently

lower than the cost of the instrument. “Significant” means generally 15% or more and “permanent” means more than
1 year.
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Once interests are overdue for more than three months, the interest accruals are reversed and interest is recognized
using the effective interest rate to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss
(unwinding).

2.4.6.1 Financial assets measured at amortised cost
The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists for financial assets.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on individually significant financial assets carried at amortised
cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition). The carrying amount of the asset shall be reduced through use of an allowance account. The amount
of the loss shall be recognized in the consolidated income statement.

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects the
cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not the
foreclosure is probable.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on individually not significant financial assets at amortised cost
has been incurred or no objective evidence of impairment exists, whether the asset is significant or not, the asset is
included in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that group of financial assets is
assessed collectively for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is or continues to be recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of the Group’s
internal credit grading system that considers credit risk characteristics such as asset type, industry, geographical
location, collateral type, past-due status and other relevant factors.

Impairment on a group of financial assets that are evaluated collectively for impairment is estimated on the basis of
historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group. Historical loss
experience is applied on current observable data to reflect the effect of current conditions not existing in the past.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed.
Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated income statement, to the extent
that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for loan impairment. Such loans are written
off after all necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off decrease the amount of allowance for loan impairment in
the consolidated income statement.

2.4.6.2 Available-for-sale financial assets

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal
payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognized in the
consolidated income statement, is transferred from equity to the consolidated income statement. Reversals in respect
of equity instruments classified as available-for-sale are not recognized in the consolidated income statement.
Reversals of impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed through the consolidated income statement if the
increase in fair value of the instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss were
recognized in the consolidated income statement.

Interest continues to be accrued at the original effective interest rate on the reduced carrying amount of the asset
and is recorded as part of the interest income.
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2.4.6.3 Renegotiated loans
Where possible, the Group seeks to renegotiate loans rather than to take possession of collateral.

The Group considers a loan (receivable) renegotiated if the loan or credit arrangements are renegotiated,
rescheduled (prolonged) and renegotiated upon the debtor’'s or the financial institution’s initiative, within the
framework of the amendment of the underlying contract, where the underlying contract is amended with a view to
avoiding default because of the considerable deterioration in the financial condition or solvency of the borrower, on
account of which he is unable to meet the obligations of repayment as originally contracted.

Such amendments result in significant changes in the terms and conditions of the underlying contract, bringing
considerably more favourable terms for the client - by way of derogation from the market conditions pertaining to
contracts of the same type bearing similar terms and conditions.

The amendments are representing, among others, the deferral of repayments (interest and/or principal) temporarily
for a specific period (grace period), payment by instalments, modification of interest rates (for example repricing in
the form of discount rates), capitalization of interest, changing the type of currency of denomination, extending the
term of the loan, rescheduling instalment payments, reducing the level of collateralization or the level of security
requested, or allowing other form of collateral or security, waiving the collateral or security requirement (non-
collateralization), introducing new contract terms and conditions or eliminating certain existing terms and conditions.

Furthermore a supplementary agreement or a new contract may be concluded between the debtor and the Group,
or between the borrower and an affiliate of the original lender, for a new loan for refinancing the debts (interest and
principal) outstanding on account of the existing contract, or for undertaking additional commitments with a view to
avoiding any further increase in risk exposure or to cutting losses, upon which the claims of the Group (including the
financial institution participating as the affiliate of the original lender) arising on account of the aforesaid
supplementary agreement or new contract are also recognized as renegotiated loans (receivables).

Loans where the relevant contract had to be amended due to changes in market conditions are not considered as
renegotiated loans (receivables), furthermore, where the parties agree in market conditions pertaining to similar
agreements and where the solvency of the debtor is such as to ascertain his ability to comply with his ensuing
contractual obligations.

Derecognition of renegotiated loans

For the derecognition of the renegotiated loans the Group applies the following criteria. An exchange between an
existing borrower and lender of debt instruments with substantially different terms shall be accounted for as an
extinguishment of the original financial asset and the recognition of a new financial asset. A substantial modification
of the terms of an existing financial asset or a part of it is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial
asset and the recognition of a new financial asset.

The terms are considered as substantially different in any case if the discounted present value of the cash flows
under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective
interest rate, is at least 10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original
financial asset.

If an exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees
incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. If the exchange or modification is not
accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the asset and are
amortised over the remaining term of the modified liability.
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2.4.7 Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and the Group intends
to either settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.4.8 Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognized where:

o therights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay
the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and

e either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control
of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the
asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be
required to repay.

2.4.9 Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. Where
an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is
recognized in the consolidated income statement.

2.4.10 Leases
Determination of whether an arrangement contains a lease

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement
and requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset
or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

2.4.10.1 Where the Group is the lessee

Finance leases, which effectively transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership
of the leased item, are capitalized at the present value of the minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease
term. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly
against income in the consolidated income statement.

Capitalized leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease
term.

Leases where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the leased asset,
are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the consolidated
income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements. 22



K&H BANK ZRT.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2 — ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4.10.2 Where the Group is the lessor

When assets held are subject to a finance lease, the present value of lease payments and the unguaranteed residual
value are recognized as a receivable. The difference between the gross receivable and the present value of the
receivable is recognized as unearned finance income.

Lease income is recognized over the term of the lease so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the receivable.

Assets subject to operating leases are included in bank premises and equipment in the consolidated statement of
financial position and lease payments received are presented as income in the consolidated income statement.

In case of financing the purchase of a vehicle or other equipment, the main collateral is the vehicle or the other
equipment, on which the Group has got the right to buy. When the contract is extraordinarily terminated the assets
received in the debt settlement are measured at cost which is defined as the fair value of the vehicle or other the
equipment. If the carrying amount of the received asset differs from the value defined at the subsequent valuation of
the asset then impairment is accounted for or the formerly booked impairment is fully or partially released.

2.4.11 Revenue recognition

Interest income and fees related to financial instruments are recognized as part of the effective interest of the
instrument, other fees (related to transactions and provided or rendered services) receivable or payable are
recognized when earned, i.e. at completion of the transaction or after performing the service. Dividend income is
recognized when the right to receive payment is established.

2.4.12 Net gains / (losses) from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss and from foreign
exchange

Net gains / (losses) from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss and from foreign exchange include
net realised gains from buying and selling financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value excluding available-for-
sale investments, changes in their fair value and the effect of foreign currency translation.

2.4.13 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with an original maturity less
than 90 days, including cash, balances due from banks and balances with the National Bank of Hungary (including
obligatory reserves) decreased with deposits from banks repayable on demand.

2.4.14 Investment property

Real estate, received in debt settlement is classified as investment property. The investment property is measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs, and subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses. It is depreciated according to the straight-line method over the economic
life of the investment property concerned. The useful life of investment properties is 33 years.
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2.4.15 Bank premises and equipment

Bank premises and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of bank premises and equipment, other than freehold land which is deemed to have an
indefinite life. The useful lives of bank premises and equipment are presented below:

Buildings 10-50 years
Leasehold improvements 5-20 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-7 years
System software 5 years
Leasehold rights 10-50 years

Replacements and improvements, which prolong the useful life or significantly improve the condition of the asset,
are capitalized. Repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated income statement as incurred. The Group
assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value
less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable
amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset.

2.4.16 Intangible assets

An intangible asset shall be recognised if, and only if it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that
are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset comprises all directly attributable costs necessary to create,
produce, and prepare the asset to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Typically the
staff expenses and the cost related to the infrastructure needed for the software development are directly attributable
to the internally generated software.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are amortised over the useful economic life; the amortisation expense is recorded as operating expense in the
consolidated income statements. The impairment assessment of intangible assets with finite lives is the same as
tangible assets. The intangible assets owned by the Group are classified as assets with finite lives.

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is computed using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the assets:

Standard software and other intangibles 5 years
Core banking software 8 years

Core systems are types of standard software, which are back-end data applications for processing all transactions
that have occurred during the day and generating postings. Core systems typically include current account, deposit
and credit processing applications, interfaces to the general ledger and reporting tools.

According to the accounting policies of the Group
e licences, system software and standard software are capitalized;
e customized and internally generated software are capitalized only if the development costs of that exceed a
certain amount. In 2015 and 2016 this threshold was HUF 120 million. Below this threshold the development
cost are expensed when they occur.
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By ‘customized software‘ is meant purchased software and software models that are customized before being
delivered or taken into use, with software having been developed in addition to existing standard software.

2.4.17 Commitments, contingent liabilities

In the ordinary course of its business, the Group enters into off-statement of financial position commitments such as
guarantees, commitments to extend credit, letters of credit, warranties and transactions with financial instruments.
These commitments are recorded in the consolidated financial statements if and when they become payable.

Financial guarantees are initially recognized in the consolidated financial statement at fair value, in ‘Other liabilities’,
being the premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group liability under each guarantee is measured
at the higher of the amortised premium and the best estimate of expenditure required to settle any financial obligation
arising as a result of the guarantee.

Any increase in the liability relating to financial guarantees is taken to the consolidated income statement in
‘Impairment on loans and receivables’ including provisions for credit commitments. The premium received is
recognized in the consolidated income statement in ‘Net fee and commission income’ on a straight line basis over
the life of the guarantee.

Taking into account that IAS 39 and IAS 37 do not contain specific requirements related to the accounting treatment
of commitments for issuing non-financial guarantees, the Group treats them in the same way as financial guarantees.

The allowance for losses on commitments and contingent liabilities reflects Management’s best estimate of incurred
losses on this portfolio. Management determines the adequacy of the allowance based upon reviews of individual
items, recent loss experience, current economic conditions, the risk characteristics of the various categories of
transactions and other pertinent factors.

2.4.18 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Any compensation that arises in relation to
provisions for operational losses from claims and legal disputes regarding commercial activity are presented in other
net income / (expense) when they become virtually certain.

2.4.19 Taxation

Current taxation is provided for in accordance with the fiscal regulations of Hungary.

Deferred taxation is provided using the liability method on all temporary differences at the reporting date. It is
calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when it is anticipated that the asset will be realised
or the liabilities will be settled, and it is based on tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the statement of financial position date.

2.4.20 Fiduciary assets

Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not assets of the Group and accordingly are not included in these
financial statements.

2.4.21 Dividend on ordinary shares
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognized as a liability and deducted from equity when they are approved by the

shareholders. Interim dividends are deducted from equity when they are declared and no longer at the discretion of
the Group.
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2.4.22 Equity reserves
The reserves recorded in equity on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position include:
Available-for-sale reserve which comprises changes in fair value of available-for-sale investments.

Cash flow hedge reserve which comprises the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument in a cash flow
hedge that is determined to be an effective hedge.

Statutory risk reserve which is set aside as 10% of the profit calculated in accordance with Hungarian Accounting
standards for use against future losses.

2.4.23 Share based payment transactions

A number of employees of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions. They
are granted share appreciation rights, which can only be settled in cash (“cash-settled transactions”). The cost of
cash-settled transactions is measured at fair value at the grant date, using the KBC share price determining the fair
value. The value of the share-based payment is expensed in the year of the remunerated performance with
recognition of a corresponding liability. The liability is valued at the closing price of the underlying share at the end
of the period. The liability is released at the date of pay-out.

2.4.24 Defined benefit plans

A number of employees of the Group receive post-employment benefits in the form of defined benefit plans. The
components of the benefit costs related to the program are recorded as follows in the consolidated financial
statements:

e vested benefits and costs arising from the change of the program’s conditions as personal expenses in the
consolidated income statement

e interest expenses related to the defined benefit plan as interest expense in the consolidated income
statement

e the revaluation of the defined benefit plan (e.g. impact of change of the curves used to the estimation and
discount calculation or change of the tax rate related to the benefit) in other comprehensive income.

2.4.25 Government grants

Government grants are assistance by government in the form of transfers of resources to the Group in return for past
or future compliance with certain conditions relating to the operating activities of the entity.

A government grant is not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to it, and that the grant will be received. Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to assets, including non-monetary grants at fair value, shall be presented in the statement
of financial position either by setting up the grant as deferred income or by deducting the grant in arriving at the
carrying amount of the asset. The Group applies the deferred income (gross) presentation method. (More information
related to the recognised result on government grants in 2016 see Note 5.)

2.5 Future changes in accounting policies

IASs, IFRSs and IFRIC interpretations not yet effective

The Group has not applied the following IASs, IFRSs and Interpretations of the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) that have been issued but are not yet effective:
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IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (new)

Introduction

In July 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 9 (Financial Instruments) on the classification and measurement of financial
instruments, as a replacement for the relevant requirements of the present IAS 39 (Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement). The mandatory effective date for IFRS 9 is 1 January 2018. A project relating to
IFRS 9 has been running for some time both at KBC Group and at K&H Group level. In 2016, it moved from the
design phase to the implementation phase, which will continue in 2017. The project is structured around two pillars,
namely 'Classification & measurement' and 'Impairment’, as well as a common work stream relating to the impact on
reporting and disclosures.

The Group currently expects to use transition relief as regards disclosing comparative information at the date of initial
application, but will probably provide certain pro forma comparative figures for significant items.

Classification & measurement

Classification and measurement of financial assets under IFRS 9 will depend on the specific business model in place
and the assets’ contractual cash flow characteristics. The project is at the stage where all the business models have
been identified, analysed and documented. The characteristics of the contractual cash flows have been analysed to
a large extent as well. Based on current market conditions, regulations, interpretation, assumptions and policies, the
impact of first-time application is currently expected to be limited (subject to an audit review) and would be reflected
primarily as the reversal of frozen available-for-sale reserves. These frozen reserves existed under IAS 39 due to
historical reclassifications out of the 'Available-for-sale' category to the 'Held-to-maturity', but need to be reversed on
transition to IFRS 9.

For financial liabilities, IFRS 9 changes the presentation of gains and losses on own credit risk for financial
instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss. The Group will early adopt this aspect of IFRS 9 with effect
from 1 January 2017 and the gains and losses on own credit risk will then go through other comprehensive income.
The impact of early adoption is expected to be minimal given the current limited effect of own credit risk.

Impairment of financial assets

In 2016, work continued on fine-tuning IFRS 9-compliant impairment policies and modelling guidelines. Several IFRS
9 models have already been built based on existing Basel models and implementing them into the calculation engine
is ongoing.

Financial assets that are subject to impairment will be classified into three stages:
» Stage 1: Performing
» Stage 2: Underperforming
» Stage 3: Non-performing or impaired

KBC Group has established policies and processes to assess whether credit risk has increased significantly at the
end of each reporting period and, therefore, whether ‘staging’ is required (i.e. moving from one stage to another).
The Group adopts these policies and processes. For the loan portfolio, a multi-tier approach has been adopted to
staging, based on internal credit ratings, forbearance measures, collective assessment and days past due as a
backstop. A similar multi-tier approach will be used for the investment portfolio, except that the Group intends to use
the low-credit-risk exemption, meaning that all bonds in scope with a PD of 1 to 3 are considered to be in 'Stage 1',
unless any of the other triggers indicate otherwise.

For 'Stage 1' and 'Stage 2' — under IAS 39 — the Group records incurred-but-not-reported (IBNR) impairment losses,
which are influenced by emergence periods. Under IFRS 9, impairment of financial assets is calculated on a 12-
month expected credit loss (ECL) basis for 'Stage 1' and on a lifetime ECL basis for 'Stage 2'. As a consequence,
impairment levels are generally expected to increase. The Group does not expect any major impact on 'Stage 3'.
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Forward looking information is incorporated into the staging criteria and measurement of ECL. Different
macroeconomic factors are taken into consideration and the Group is currently considering more scenarios to
evaluate a range of possible outcomes.

The impact of first time application depends on the regulatory framework and economic conditions at that time, as
well as the composition of the portfolios.

Impairment levels under IFRS 9 will differ from current prudential requirements because of: (i) application of a
through-the-cycle estimate for prudential purposes as opposed to a point-in-time estimate under IFRS 9; (ii)
application of a 12-month PD for prudential purposes as opposed to a lifetime PD under IFRS 9 (for 'Stage 2' and
'Stage 3'); and (iii) inclusion of prudential floors and downturn adjustments in the PD, EAD and LGD estimates for
prudential purposes.

Hedge accounting

The Group intends to use the option to continue with hedge accounting under IAS 39 and to await further
developments at the IASB regarding macro hedging.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (new)

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 (Revenue from Contracts with Customers) concerning the recognition of
revenue. IFRS 15 specifies how and when an IFRS reporter will recognise revenue as well as requiring such entities
to provide users of financial statements with more informative, relevant disclosures.

IFRS 15 applies to an annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Early application is permitted.
No major impact is expected.

The Group will apply this standard when it becomes mandatory.
IFRS 16 Leases (new)

IFRS 16 is a new standard dealing with the accounting for leases. IFRS 16 reflects the IASB’s work on the
replacement of IAS 17.

Under IFRS 16 a lessee recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The right-of-use asset is treated similarly
to other non-financial assets and depreciated accordingly. This will typically produce a front-loaded expense profile
as an assumed linear depreciation of the right-of-use asset and the decreasing interest on the liability will lead to an
overall decrease of expense over the reporting period.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments payable over the lease term,
discounted at the rate implicit in the lease.

For finance leases a lessor recognises finance income over the lease term, based on a pattern reflecting a constant
periodic rate of return on the net investment. A lessor recognises operating lease payments as income on a straight-
line basis.

The new standard does not significantly change the accounting for leases for lessors, hence the accounting impact
is expected to be limited for the Group.

IFRS 16 applies to an annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early application is permitted if
IFRS 15 has also been applied.

The Group will apply this standard when it becomes mandatory.
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Other
The IASB published several limited amendments to existing IFRSs in the course of 2016. They will be applied when
they become mandatory, but their impact is currently estimated to be negligible.

The list of the referred amendments is as follows:

e Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses - Amendments to IAS 12
Effective date: 1 January 2017

e Disclosure Initiative - Amendments to IAS 7
Effective date: 1 January 2017

e Amendments to IFRS 2, Share-based Payment
Effective date: 1 January 2018

e Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 cycle
Effective date: 1 January 2017 for amendments to IFRS 12, 1 January 2018 for amendments to IFRS 1 and
IAS 28

e |FRIC 22 - Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
Effective date: 1 January 2018

e Transfers of Investment Property - Amendments to IAS 40
Effective date: 1 January 2018

2.6 Taxes and levies payable by financial institutions

Credit institutions and financial institutions are exposed to pay the so called “bank tax” introduced in 2010 in Hungary
(see Note 10).

The actual bank tax and its reversal (if any) are recorded as expense in the financial period in which it is legally
payable.

As the bank tax is payable based on non-net income measures it does not meet the definition of income tax under
IFRS and is therefore presented as an operating expense in the consolidated income statement.

The IFRIC 21 Levies interpretation identifies the obligating event for the recognition of a liability as the activity that
triggers the payment of the levy in accordance with the relevant legislation. Based on the interpretation of IFRIC 21
the “bank tax” amount is recognized at the beginning of the year in a lump sum in the Group’s Consolidated Financial
Statements.

In 2013 a tax called financial transaction levy (FTL) has been introduced. The FTL is payable based on specified
type of transactions (including cash movements and money transfers). Subject of the levy are financial service
providers (with seat or branch in Hungary). The FTL is recorded as part of general administrative expenses when the
underlying business transaction occurs.

In the case of bankcard transactions the FTL is recognized at the beginning of the year in a lump sum, because the
base of this levy is the bankcard transactions of the previous year that triggers the payment obligation of the levy at
the beginning of the year.

The Investor Protection Fund (IPF) is established to provide indemnity to investors against property damages arising
from the potential insolvency of investment service providers. Members make annual contribution payments to the
IPF. Based on the interpretation of IFRIC 21 the amount is recognized at the beginning of the year in a lump sum in
the Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The Resolution Fund was established in 2014 to shift the costs of crisis management in the financial sector to the
members of the sector. The Fund is financed by credit institutions and investment firms from the annual fees paid by
the members. According to IFRIC 21 the Group records the total annual fee at the beginning of the period.

2.7 Reclassification and restatement

Some of the notes in the Consolidated Financial Statements were changed in comparison with the previous year’s
presentation. The new and the restated categories are marked in the concerned notes.

The restated notes are the following:

Note 3 Net interest income

Note 14 Income tax

Note 15 Earnings/(Loss) per share

Note 28 Other assets

Note 29 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
Note 35 Other liabilities

Reclassifications
The reclassified notes are the following:
¢ Note 4 Net fee and commission income
¢ Note 11 Average number of personnel
Defined benefit plan

The recognition of certain collective benefit agreements were reconsidered in the Consolidated Financial Statements
(see Note 40). The comparative figures were restated.

Previously
reported as at Restated
1 January as at 1 January
2015 Restatement 2015

MHUF MHUF MHUF

Consolidated statement of financial
position

Assets
Deferred tax assets 11774 190 11 964
Total liabilities and equity
Other liabilities 31769 998 32767
Total equity 179716 (808) 178 908
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Previously Restated
reported as at as at 31
31 December December
2015 Restatement 2015
MHUF MHUF MHUF
Consolidated statement of financial
position
Assets
Deferred tax assets 5900 199 6 099
Total liabilities and equity
Other liabilities 63 771 1047 64 818
Total equity 221 387 (848) 220 539
Consolidated income statement
Interest expense (27 924) (49) (27 973)
Income tax expense (9672) 9 (9 663)

Management believes the above restatements relating to 2015 are immaterial to the consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole.

2.8 Change in estimate

The Group has started to recognise portfolio-based impairment on exposures related to the Hungarian government
and the National Bank of Hungary in 2016.
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Loans and receivables
Held to maturity
Available-for-sale assets

Subtotal, interest income from financial assets not measured
at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets held for trading

Asset/liability management derivatives

Hedging derivatives

Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Total interest income

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Other liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or
loss

Subtotal, interest income from financial assets not measured
at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities held for trading

Asset/liability management derivatives

Hedging derivatives

Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Interest expense of defined benefit plans

Total interest expenses

Net interest income

Restated
2016 2015
MHUF MHUF
57 225 63 685
20 921 24 855
6 528 5969
84 674 94 509
2120 2 002
832 1312
5763 3907
- 77
93 389 101 807
(12 963) (16 953)
(17) (108)
(12 980) (17 061)
(24) (64)
(773) (1 595)
(2 804) (1532)
(6 755) (7 672)
(31) (49)
(23 367) (27 973)
70 022 73 834

The Group recorded HUF 183 million interest income (unwinding discount effect) on impaired assets in 2016 (HUF

376 million in 2015).
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Brokerage services

Trust and fiduciary activities
Credit and guarantee fee income
Structured finance

Payment services

Card services

Other

Fee and commission income

Brokerage services

Credit and guarantee fee expense
Commissions to agents
Structured finance

Payment transactions

Card services

Insurance commissions

Other

Fee and commission expense

Net fee and commission income

Reclassified

2016 2015
MHUF MHUF
1708 1184
12 037 14 468
3243 3216
269 259
39977 39 897
10 654 9790
1808 1129
69 696 69 943
(1 667) (1631)
(1 867) (2 030)
(205) (112)
- (107)
(5 295) (5 005)
(5 346) (6 872)
(2 558) (1923)
(116) (6)
(17 054) (17 686)
52 642 52 257

Front-end fees related to loans and receivables are part of the effective interest rate method calculation and are

recorded as interest income or expenses over the life of the underlying loan or receivable.
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NOTE 5 — NET GAINS / (LOSSES) FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS AND FROM FOREIGN EXCHANGE

2016 2015
MHUF MHUF
Trading securities 1313 151
Interest rate derivatives (including interest and fair value changes in
trading derivatives) 3825 2169
Other financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or
loss at initial recognition 31 856
Foreign exchange trading (including interest and fair value changes in
trading foreign exchange derivatives) 15903 14 328
Fair value adjustments in hedge accounting* (172) 281
Net gains / (losses) from financial instruments at fair value through
profit or loss and from foreign exchange 20 900 17 785

*Results of cash flow hedge derivatives transferred from Consolidated other comprehensive income to the
Consolidated income statement amounted to HUF 100 million gain in 2016 (HUF 675 million gain in 2015) and HUF
272 million loss was recorded as the unrealised revaluation of the ineffective cash flow hedge transactions (HUF 394
million loss in 2015).

The changes in the fair value of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss attributable to credit
risk amounted to HUF 8 million loss in 2016 (HUF 113 million loss in 2015) and HUF 17 million gain as at 31
December 2016 cumulatively (HUF 25 million gain as at 31 December 2015).

The change in the fair value of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, where the fair value calculation
is based on non-observable parameters was HUF 93 million gain in 2016 (HUF 5 million loss in 2015).

HUF 902 million income was accounted for in 2016 due to the lending activity related interest rate swap deals (HIRS)
linked to the National Bank of Hungary’'s Market Lending Scheme (PHP).

NOTE 6 — NET REALISED GAINS FROM AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE

2016 2015

MHUF MHUF
Fixed-income securities 723 665
Shares 4 565 -
Net realised gains from available for sale 5288 665

In 2016 Visa Inc. purchased Visa Europe. The up-front consideration consisted of two parts: cash component and
preferred shares in Visa Inc.. Gain resulting from the sale is presented as net realised gains from available-for-sale
shares.
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The Group recognised HUF 2 million dividend income in 2016 (no dividend income was recognised in 2015). The

dividend was paid by Visa Inc..

NOTE 8 — OTHER NET INCOME / (EXPENSE)

Gain on property, plant and equipment

Sale of goods

Gain/(loss) on the disposal of held-to -maturity debt instruments
Revenue on other services

Gain / (loss) due to operational risks

Provision for expected loss in relation to the Curia Act
Adjustment of carrying amount of loans and advances due to
reestimation of future cash flows

Other

Other net income / (expense)

2016 2015
MHUF MHUF
177 317
395 680
374 139
314 453
(418) 2208

- (279)

13 739 15 142
147 (530)
14728 18 130

The income of HUF 314 million reported as revenue on other services in 2016 (HUF 453 million 2015) results from
finance and accounting, business management, technical, logistics and bank security services granted by the Group

to other KBC Group entities operating in Hungary, but not included in the consolidation.

In case of impaired loans and advances converted to HUF the subsequent increase in future cash-flow estimation
due to credit quality improvement recorded as part of “Adjustment of carrying amount of loans and advances due to
reestimation of future cash flows” within “Other net income / (expense)” resulted in a HUF 13 739 million gain in 2016
(10 440 million gain in 2015). The subsequent decrease in future cash-flow estimation due to credit quality worsening

is recorded as part of impairments for all loans and receivables.
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IT expenses

Rental expenses

Repair and maintenance
Marketing expenses
Professional fees

Other facilities expenses
Communication expenses
Travel expenses

Training expenses
Personnel related expenses
Financial transaction levy
Other administrative expenses
Other provision

Total general administrative expenses

2016 2015
MHUF MHUF
(8 711) (9 642)
(2 819) (2 707)
(1311) (1 150)
(1 460) (1532)
(2 818) (2 196)
(4 132) (4 351)
(274) (214)
(91) (92)
(478) (307)
(217) (260)
(21 326) (21 403)
(4 755) (3 955)
3 423

(48 389) (47 386)
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NOTE 10 — BANK TAX

The Group paid a bank tax of HUF 7 557 million in 2016 (HUF 15 755 million in 2015). The basis and the tax rate of
the tax payable by financial institutions can differ per group members, dependent on their activities.

The tables below present the details of the bank tax paid by the group members in 2016 and 2015.

2016 Activity Tax base Tax rate Tax
MHUF % MHUF
Group members:
K&H Bank Zrt. Credit institution 2888 110 0.258* 7443
K&H Befektetési Alapkezeld Zrt. Asset management 211992 0.050 114
Total 3100 102 0.244 7 557
2015 Activity Tax base Tax rate Tax
MHUF % MHUF
Group members:
K&H Bank Zrt. Credit institution 2888 110 0.542* 15 648
K&H Befektetési Alapkezel6 Zrt. Asset management 211 992 0.050 107
Total 3 100 102 0.508 15755

*Effective rate
The bank tax payable by the Group members for the year 2016 is calculated as follows.
For credit institutions the tax base includes the total asset value as at 31 December 2009, less:

Hungarian interbank loan receivables, including bank deposits and repo transactions;
bonds and shares issued by Hungarian credit institutions, financial enterprises and investment enterprises;
¢ |oan receivables, subordinated and supplementary subordinated loan receivables with respect to capital
provided to Hungarian financial enterprises and investment enterprises (including receivables under repos,
collateralized repos, repos settled in kind);
e receivables deriving from EU inter-bank credits, bonds and shares issued by other credit institutions.

The bank tax for credit institutions is payable at 0.15% on tax base below HUF 50 000 million and 0.24% on tax base
above HUF 50 000 million in 2016 (0.53% in 2015).

In case of asset management companies the base of the tax is the quarterly calculated average value (sum of daily
net asset values divided by the number of days in the quarter) of the distributed fund units kept on the client accounts
by the distributor (excluding the shares held by a fund of fund). The applied tax rate is 0.05% per year.

The bank tax for the Group is expected to be HUF 5 580 million in 2017 (including estimated amount for funds). The
decrease of the bank tax expected in 2017 is caused by the change of the tax base and the tax rates. In 2017 the
tax base of credit institutions is the total asset value as at 31 December 2015 adjusted by the above mentioned
decreasing items. The tax rate of 0.24% applied on tax base above HUF 50 000 million until 31 December 2016 was
changed to0 0.21% in 2017.

For the Bank the liability of HUF 5 451 million is established on January 1, 2017.
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Reclassified

2016 2015
White-collar staff 3 594 3471
Blue-collar staff 26 29
Management 38 36
Total average number of persons employed 3 658 3 536

Restated

2016 2015
Wages and salaries 24 227 22 041
Social security charges 7 831 7433
Defined benefit plan (562) -
Share based payments 63 183
Other staff expenses 2782 2421
Total staff expenses 34 341 32078

NOTE 12 — IMPAIRMENT (income statement)
2016 2015
MHUF MHUF
Impairments and provisions on loans and receivables and credit
commitments
Specific impairments for loans and receivables (10 017) (12 564)
Specific provisions on credit commitments 735 (1515)
Portfolio-based impairments and provisions 148 1791
Total impairments and provisions on loans and receivables and
credit commitments (9134) (12 288)
For more detailed information on changes in the impairment loss see Note 26.

2016 2015

MHUF MHUF
Impairment on other
Intangible assets (149) (8)
Investment property (7) (11)
Property and equipment (728) (777)
Held-to-maturity assets (69) -
Other (4) (6)
Total impairment on other (957) (802)
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NOTE 13 — SHARE IN THE RESULTS OF ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

The carrying amount of HAGE Zrt. amounted to HUF 542 million as at 31 December 2016 (and 2015). Management
believes that this carrying amount best represents the Group’s share in the investment. The share in result of HAGE
is fully impaired in 2016 similarly to previous years. The impairment recorded on HAGE Zrt. was HUF 166 million in
2016 (HUF 26 million in 2015). The current year’s result and the impairment of the associates are recorded net within
the consolidated income statement as “Share in the results of associated companies”. (For further information on the
main financial figures of the associated companies see Note 30.)

NOTE 14 — INCOME TAXES

The components of income tax expense for the year ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 are:

Restated

Notes 2016 2015

MHUF MHUF

Statutory income tax expense (5013) (1 376)
Statutory income tax from self-revision of prior years 1134 (217)
Local business tax expense (3271) (3 195)
Investment services tax (1215) -
Deferred taxes on income 29 (7 969) (4 875)
Income tax (expense) / benefit (16 334) (9 663)

Statutory income tax expense

In 2016 and 2015, corporate income tax is payable at 10% on yearly profits below a limit of HUF 500 million and 19%
on profits above the limit.

Considered their non-turnover characteristics, local business taxes are presented as an income tax expense for IFRS
purposes. Local business taxes include local government tax and innovation tax.

Investment services tax was introduced in 2016 in Hungary. The tax is payable at 5.6% on the result of investment
services.

There is no procedure for final agreement of tax assessments in Hungary. The tax authorities may examine the
accounting records and revise assessments for up to five years after the period to which they relate. Consequently,
the Group may be subject to further assessments in the event of an audit by the tax authorities. The corporate tax
returns for the Bank have been reviewed and closed off by the taxation authorities for the years up to 2013 excluding
2011. Management is not aware of any additional significant non-accrued potential tax liability which might arise
relating to years not audited by the tax authorities.

The Group recorded a HUF 5 128 million deferred tax asset in the previous year for the tax allowance arised in
accordance with the Act on Settlements. The Group utilized the tax allowance in 2016.

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements. 39
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NOTE 14 — INCOME TAXES (continued)

The effective income tax rate varied from the statutory income tax rate due to the following items:

Restated

2016 2015

MHUF MHUF
Profit / (loss) before tax 55211 47 535
Income tax rate 19.00% 19.00%
Income tax calculated (10 490) (9 032)
Plus/minus tax effects attributable to:
Tax base decreasing items from permanent differences 425 1629
Adjustments related to prior years 1134 (217)
Adjustment on opening balance of deferred taxes due to change in tax rate (2 988) -
Unrecognised tax credit used to reduce current tax expense 106 -
Local taxes and investment services tax (4 255) (3195)
Tax base increasing items from permanent differences (263) 1143
Other (3) -
Total tax effects (5 844) (640)
Income tax expense (income tax calculated + total tax effects) (16 334) (9672)

The effective income tax rate for 2016 is 29.58% (2015: 20.35%).

Adjustment on opening balance of deferred taxes due to change in tax rate includes the impact of the approved

decrease of the income tax rate in 2017 from 19% to 9%.

NOTE 15 — EARNINGS / (LOSS) PER SHARE

Earnings / (loss) per share is the profit attributable to shareholders of the Group divided by the weighted average
number of shares outstanding during the period, excluding treasury shares. There were no other potentially dilutive
securities in existence at 31 December 2016 and 2015. The following amounts were used in the calculation of

earnings / (loss) per share:

Restated
2016 2015
Net profit attributable to shareholders (MHUF) 38 877 37 823
Weighted average shares outstanding (in millions) 140 978 140 978
Earnings / (loss) per share in HUF (basic) 0.2757664 0.2682901
The figures of earnings / (loss) per share calculated for basic and diluted shares do not differ.
40
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NOTE 16 — FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, BREAKDOWN BY PORTFOLIO AND PRODUCT

Financial assets as at 31 December 2016

Loans and advances to central banks®
Loans and advances to credit institutions and investment firms**
Loans and advances to customers

Trading receivables

Consumer credit

Credit card

Mortgage loans

Term loans

Finance leasing

Current account advances

Other
Equity instruments
Debts instruments

issued by public bodies

issued by financial corporations
Derivatives

Total carrying value

Debt instruments issued by public bodies include Hungarian government and Hungarian municipality bonds.

*The maturity of loans and advances to central banks is less than 90 days.

= o
o Ko © 2
§  Egg 5 5
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o c+ O Q2 © [} c =
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= §5% & : 3 : g :
T aSs < Se T TS 2
MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF
- - - 86 206 - - 86 206
- - - 521 250 - - 521 250
- - - 1179 522 - - 1179 522
- - - 19 758 - - 19 758
- - - 24 568 - - 24 568
- - - 5444 - - 5444
- - - 449 579 - - 449 579
- - - 548 111 - - 548 111
- - - 44 072 - - 44 072
- - - 87 255 - - 87 255
- - - 735 - - 735
559 - 1558 - - - 2117
54 450 - 191 552 16 068 426 237 - 688 307
54 450 - 191 552 1176 426 237 - 673 415
- - - 14 892 - - 14 892
40 265 - - - - 16 453 56 718
95 274 - 193 110 1 803 046 426 237 16 453 2534 120

**From the total balance of loans and advances to credit institutions and investment firms HUF 412 669 million is either repayable on demand or is maturing in less than 90 days. Loans and advances
to credit institutions, investment firms and customers include reverse repo transactions of HUF 384 116 million.

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTE 16 — FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, BREAKDOWN BY PORTFOLIO AND PRODUCT (continued)

Financial assets as at 31 December 2015

Loans and advances to central banks*
Loans and advances to credit institutions and investment firms
Loans and advances to customers

Trading receivables

Consumer credit

Credit card

Mortgage loans

Term loans

Finance leasing

Current account advances

Other
Equity instruments
Debts instruments

issued by public bodies

issued by financial corporations
Derivatives

*%

Total carrying value
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MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF
- - - 523 338 - - 523 338
- - - 73632 - - 73632
- - - 1133 989 - - 1133 989
- - - 20 740 - - 20 740
- - - 21094 - - 21094
- - - 4884 - - 4884
- - - 432 627 - - 432 627
- - - 531915 - - 531915
- - - 36 981 - - 36 981
- - - 84 910 - - 84910
- - - 838 - - 838
1013 - 4 995 - - - 6008
40 555 - 158 250 15 953 428 371 - 643 129
40 555 - 158 250 1430 428 371 - 628 606
- - - 14 523 - - 14 523
40 167 - - - - 11023 51190
81735 - 163 245 1746 912 428 371 11023 2431 286

Debt instruments issued by public bodies include Hungarian government and Hungarian municipality bonds.

*The maturity of loans and advances to central banks is less than 90 days.

**From the total balance of loans and advances to credit institutions and investment firms HUF 1 908 million is either repayable on demand or is maturing in less than 90 days. Loans and advances
to credit institutions, investment firms and customers include reverse repo transactions of HUF 13 413 million.

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTE 16 — FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, BREAKDOWN BY PORTFOLIO AND PRODUCT (continued)

Financial liabilities as at 31 December 2016

Deposits from central banks
Deposits from credit institutions and
investment firms*
Deposits from customers and debt certificates
Deposits from customers
Demand deposits
Time deposits
Savings deposits
Debt certificates
Certificates of deposits
Non-convertible bonds
Non-convertible subordinated liabilities
Derivatives
Short positions
In debt instruments
Other

Total carrying value

*Of which HUF 44 931 million is deposits from banks repayable on demand.

Deposits from credit institutions and investment firms includes repo transactions of HUF 1 035 million.

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF

- - - 172 500 172 500

- - - 136 921 136 921

- 200 131 - 1968 161 2 168 292

- 191 512 - 1 939 968 2 131480

- - - 1404 079 1404 079

- 191 512 - 243 416 434 928

- - - 292 473 292 473

- 8619 - 28 193 36 812

- - - 236 236

- 8619 - - 8619

- - - 27 957 27 957

24 295 - 3120 - 27 415

4 626 - - - 4 626

4 626 - - - 4 626

2 885 - - 333 3218

31 806 200 131 3120 2277 915 2512972
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NOTE 16 — FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, BREAKDOWN BY PORTFOLIO AND PRODUCT (continued)

Financial liabilities as at 31 December 2015

Deposits from central banks
Deposits from credit institutions and
investment firms*
Deposits from customers and debt certificates
Deposits from customers
Demand deposits
Time deposits
Savings deposits
Debt certificates
Certificates of deposits
Non-convertible bonds
Non-convertible subordinated liabilities
Derivatives
Short positions
In debt instruments
Other

Total carrying value

*Of which HUF 57 429 million is deposits from banks repayable on demand.

Deposits from credit institutions and investment firms includes repo transactions of HUF 5 456 million.

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF
- - - 188 096 188 096
- - - 161 666 161 666
- 216 315 - 1684 182 1900 497
- 209 820 - 1655 800 1865 620
- - - 1025 232 1025 232
- 209 820 - 354 045 563 865
- - - 276 523 276 523
- 6 495 - 28 382 34 877
- - - 241 241
- 6 495 - - 6 495
- - - 28 141 28 141
25971 - 11 - 250982
9 888 - - - 9 888
9 888 - - - 9 888
- - - 725 725
35 859 216 315 11 2 034 669 2 286 854
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NOTE 16 — FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, BREAKDOWN BY PORTFOLIO AND PRODUCT (continued)

Assets pledged as collateral for liabilities and contingent liabilities

2016 2015

MHUF MHUF
Assets pledged for:
Repo liabilities 1 006 5407
Refinancing credits with EIB 11 213 34 892
Funding for Growth Scheme launched by MNB 182 600 196 500
Derivative transactions 7915 14 738
Clearing transactions 110 021 53 865
Total assets pledged as collateral 312 755 305 402

For the terms and conditions of assets pledged as collateral for repo liabilities see Note 17.

Assets pledged as collateral for refinancing credits, derivatives and clearing transactions contain cash and cash
equivalents and securities. These assets are not transferred to the counterparty. In case of derivatives the terms and
conditions of collateral settlement are defined in separate CSAs (Credit Support Annexes) between the
counterparties. In case of securities the collateral requirement is defined on portfolio basis and it is held in custody
at a central clearing house (KELER).

Under clearing transactions securities pledged to ensure the safety of the Continuous Linked Settlement (CLS)
system are presented.

Details of financial instruments
Equity and debt instruments

The breakdown of equity and debt instruments is presented in the tables below.

2016 2015

MHUF MHUF
Held for trading
Hungarian Treasury bills 14 543 558
Hungarian government bonds issued in HUF 28 843 38 545
Hungarian government bonds issued in foreign currency 11 064 1452
Hungarian Listed equity instruments 559 551
Hungarian Unlisted equity instruments - 462
Total held for trading securities 55 009 41 568

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements. 45
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NOTE 16 — FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, BREAKDOWN BY PORTFOLIO AND PRODUCT (continued)

2016 2015
MHUF MHUF
Available for sale
Hungarian government bonds issued in HUF 169 485 147 437
Hungarian government bonds issued in foreign currency 22 067 10 813
Unlisted equity instruments 1 558 4 995
Total available for sale 193 110 163 245

Available-for-sale equity instruments contain as at 31 December 2016 unlisted equity instruments in a value of HUF
646 million (HUF 646 million at the end of 2015) for which a fair value cannot be measured reliably. These
investments are not traded on active markets. Management believes that the carrying value of the investments held
at cost approximates their fair value.

These available-for-sale investments contain long term investments in companies where the Group does not have
significant influence. These participations are not consolidated as either a subsidiary or through equity consolidation.

Available-for-sale investments disclosed on their net carrying amount are:

2016 2015

MHUF MHUF

Garantiga Hitelgarancia Zrt. 640 640
SWIFT S.C. 6 6
646 646

The Group recorded HUF 2 781 million gain after tax in other comprehensive income as a result of the fair value
revaluation of available-for-sale debt instruments in 2016 (HUF 689 million gain after tax in 2015).

The unrealised result of available-for-sale debt instruments is cumulatively HUF 11 948 million gain after tax as at 31
December 2016 (HUF 8 759 million gain as at 31 December 2015).

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements. 46
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NOTE 16 — FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, BREAKDOWN BY PORTFOLIO AND PRODUCT (continued)

2016 2015
MHUF MHUF
Loans and receivables
Bonds issued by municipality — issued in HUF 1176 1430
Bonds issued by financial corporations in HUF 14 892 14 523
Total loans and receivables debt instruments 16 068 15 953

Bonds issued by financial corporations include bonds issued by the Investor Protection Fund and the National Deposit
Insurance Fund of Hungary.

2016 2015
MHUF MHUF
Held to maturity
Hungarian government bonds issued in foreign currency 15 347 34 216
Hungarian government bonds issued in HUF 410 890 394 155
Total held to maturity 426 237 428 371

Refinancing credits

The Bank has entered into several refinancing credit facilities with financial institutions (such as EIB, FHB — Mortgage
Bank, MFB — Development Bank, EXIM Bank) for the purpose of funding portions of the Bank’s activities. There are
several covenants governing the determination of qualified recipients, the on-going monitoring process of the ultimate
recipients and the repayment process. In all cases the Bank assumes all credit risk related to the ultimate borrower and
must check compliance with all covenants.

The National Bank of Hungary (MNB) launched a program called Funding for Growth Scheme in 2013. The aim of the
program is the refinancing of small and medium enterprises (SME) through the Hungarian bank system. The MNB funds
the credit institutions attending the program through below market rate refinancing loans during a temporary period and
in a limited amount. These funds are used by the credit institutions for granting credits to SMEs with similar, favourable
conditions for pre-determined purposes. The maximum maturity of the refinancing loans is 10 years at initiation and it
corresponds to the maturity of the loans granted to the customers.

At 31 December 2016, Management believes that the Bank is in compliance with all significant covenants. Refinancing
credits are presented as financial liabilities at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements. 47
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NOTE 16 — FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, BREAKDOWN BY PORTFOLIO AND PRODUCT (continued)

2016 2015
MHUF MHUF
Refinancing credits in the frame of the Funding for Growth Scheme 172 500 188 096
Other refinancing credits 87 335 98 800
Total refinancing credits 259 835 286 896
Non-convertible subordinated liabilities
2016 2015
MHUF MHUF
Subordinated loan from KBC Group 27 957 28 141
27 957 28 141

In June 2006, the Group borrowed EUR 60 million of subordinated debt from KBC Bank N.V. Dublin branch, a
member of the KBC Group. In 2014 KBC Bank N.V. has taken over the facility from its branch. In March 2015 the
loan’s original maturity of 30 June 2016 was extended with 10 years. The loan bears a variable interest rate of 3
month-EURIBOR plus 2.70 percent per annum.

In September 2015 the Group agreed on an additional subordinated debt of EUR 30 million with KBC Bank N.V. with
conditions of 10 years maturity and a variable interest rate of 3 month-EURIBOR plus 3.05 percent per annum.

Non-convertible subordinated liabilities are presented as financial liabilities at amortised cost in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

NOTE 17 — TRANSFERRED FINANCIAL ASSETS

The following table includes transferred financial assets continued to be recognised in their entirety.

2016 2015
Carrying Carrying Carrying Carrying
amount of amount of amount of amount of
transferred associated transferred associated
asset liability asset liability
MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF
Held-for-trading debt instruments - - 4674 4717
Held-to-maturity debt instruments 1006 1035 733 739
Total transferred assets and
associated liabilities 1 006 1035 5407 5456

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements. 48
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NOTE 17 — TRANSFERRED FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

Repo and reverse repo agreements

Under reverse repo transactions, the Group obtains legal ownership of the respective collateral received and, thus,
is permitted to utilise the collateral; however, the same collateral must be delivered back to the borrower of the funds
on maturity, which generates a liability recorded as financial liability held at amortised cost in the consolidated
financial position. The fair value of securities accepted as collateral in connection with reverse repo transactions as
at 31 December 2016 was HUF 376 220 million, of which HUF 4 626 million (reported as short positions in the
consolidated statement of financial position) has been sold (31 December 2015 HUF 13 233 million and HUF 9 888
million respectively).

The terms of repos and reverse repo transactions are less than three months and the interest rate is based on HUF
interbank rates (BUBOR).

The Group has no associated liabilities which have recourse limited only to the transferred assets.

NOTE 18 — RECLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group reclassified foreign currency denominated municipality bonds from available-for-sale to the loans and
receivables portfolio, in order to eliminate the volatility in equity caused by the fair value changes of the instruments. The
bonds have met the definition of loans and receivables and the Group has had both the intention and ability to hold the
asset for the foreseeable future or until maturity as at the date of the reclassification (as of 1 July 2011).

The carrying value and the fair value of the assets classified out of the available-for-sale portfolio and classified to the
Loan and receivables portfolio amounted to HUF 49 376 million as at 1 July 2011.

The following tables present the bonds’ carrying amount and their impact before income tax on the comprehensive
income as they are recognised after reclassification in the Consolidated Financial Statements and as they would be
recognised, if no reclassification had been done.

After Without
reclassification reclassification
MHUF MHUF
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2016 1176 1152
Available for sale reserve (before tax) - (26)
Income statement (before tax) - -
After Without
reclassification reclassification
MHUF MHUF
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2015 1430 1417
Available for sale reserve (before tax) - (12)

Income statement (before tax) - -

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements. 49
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NOTE 18 — RECLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

The fair value gain that the Group would have recognised in other comprehensive income if the financial assets had not
been reclassified amounted to HUF 14 million loss in 2016 (HUF 42 million gain in 2015).

The reclassified bonds are valued at amortised cost after reclassification, their fair value adjustment recognised in other
comprehensive income and included in the carrying amount as at the date of reclassification is amortised to the Income
Statement.

Without reclassification these bonds would be valued at fair value and the changes in the fair value would be recognised
in other comprehensive income.

The Group expected the following cash flows from reclassified assets as at 1 July 2011:

Expected cash

flows

MHUF
Less than three months 363
More than three months but not more than one year 1513
More than one but not more than five years 21 294
More than five years 48 270
Total 71440

The average effective interest rate of the bonds was 5.21% as at 1 July 2011.

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements. 50
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NOTE 19 — OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The following tables present the financial assets and liabilities which are subject to enforceable master netting agreements as at 31 December 2016:

Derivatives
Reverse repurchase agreements

Total financial assets subject to
offsetting or master netting
agreements

Derivatives
Repurchase agreements

Total financial liabilities subject to
offsetting or master netting
agreements

Amounts presented in the statement of financial

Amounts not set off in the statement of financial position

position
Gross amount Gross amount
of recognised of financial Net amounts Cash Securities
financial liabilities set of financial Financial collateral collateral Net
assets off assets instruments received received amount
MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF
56 718 - 56 718 22 939 25475 - 8 304
384 116 - 384 116 - - 376 210 7 906
440 834 - 440 834 22 939 25475 376 210 16 210
Amounts presented in the statement of financial
position Amounts not set off in the statement of financial position
Gross amount
of recognised Gross amount Net amounts Cash Securities
financial of financial of financial Financial collateral collateral Net
liabilities assets set off liabilities instruments pledged pledged amount
MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF
27 415 - 27 415 22 939 1027 107 3342
1035 - 1035 - 1006 29
28 450 - 28 450 22939 1027 1113 3 371

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTE 19 — OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

The following tables present the financial assets and liabilities which are subject to enforceable master netting agreements as at 31 December 2015:

Amounts presented in the statement of financial

position Amounts not set off in the statement of financial position
Gross amount Gross amount
of recognised of financial Net amounts Cash Securities
financial liabilities set of financial Financial collateral collateral Net
assets off assets instruments received received amount
MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF
Derivatives 51190 - 51190 21573 14 311 - 15 306
Reverse repurchase agreements 13413 - 13413 - - 13 233 180
Total financial assets subject to
offsetting or master netting
agreements 64 603 - 64 603 21573 14 311 13 233 15 486
Amounts presented in the statement of financial
position Amounts not set off in the statement of financial position
Gross amount
of recognised Gross amount Net amounts Cash Securities
financial of financial of financial Financial collateral collateral Net
liabilities assets set off liabilities instruments pledged pledged amount
MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF
Derivatives 25982 - 25982 21573 2811 11 1587
Repurchase agreements 5456 - 5456 - - 5407 49
Total financial liabilities subject to
offsetting or master netting
agreements 31438 - 31438 21573 2811 5418 1636

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTE 19 — OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

Derivatives, repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements are subject to different netting agreements as ISDA
(International Swaps and Derivatives Association) Master Agreements, CSAs (Credit Support Annex) and GMRAs
(Global Master Repurchase Agreement) in case of institutional clients (credit institutions and investment firms) or
treasury limits in case of corporate customers.

Financial assets and liabilities subject to master netting agreements are not netted in the consolidated statements of
financial position, since the Group has no intention to settle these instruments on a net basis in the normal course of
business.

Given cash collaterals are recognised in the loans-and-receivables portfolio as loans and advances to credit
institutions and investment firms repayable on demand. Cash collaterals received are included in financial liabilities
held on amortised cost and are recognised as demand deposits from credit institutions and investment firms.

Securities collaterals received are not recorded in the consolidated statements of financial position. Securities
collaterals pledged are recognised in the consolidated statements of financial position in the appropriate portfolio
(and are presented as assets pledged as collateral for liabilities and contingent liabilities in Note 16).

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements. 53
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NOTE 20 — FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The table below presents information concerning the fair value of financial assets and liabilities for year 2016:

Fair value
Recognised
Valuation in other Recognised
Valuation techniques - comprehensive in profit or
Quoted techniques - un- income: loss:
market observable observable Total un- un-
price inputs inputs Total carrying Unrecognised observable observable
(level 1) (level 2) (level 3) fair value amount gain/(loss) input inputs*
MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF
Cash and cash balances with
central banks 35458 186 562 - 222 020 222 020 - - -
Financial assets 628 745 762 968 1188 035 2579748 2534 120 45 628 249 3030
Held for trading 54 294 37 537 3443 95 274 95 274 - - 3030
Designated at fair value
through profit or loss - - - - - - - -
Available for sale 160 399 31153 1558 193 110 193 110 - 249 -
Loans and receivables - 622 123 1183 034 1805 157 1803 046 2111 - -
Held to maturity 414 052 55702 - 469 754 426 237 43 517 - -
Hedging derivatives - 16 453 - 16 453 16 453 - - -
Total financial assets and cash
and cash balances with central
banks 664 203 949 530 1188 035 2 801 768 2756 140 45 628 249 3030
Financial liabilities
Held for trading 4733 23723 3350 31 806 31 806 - - (2937)
Designated at fair value
through profit or loss - 200 131 - 200 131 200 131 - - -
Measured at amortised cost - 101 387 2178 337 2279724 2277915 (1 809) - -
Hedging derivatives - 3120 - 3120 3120 - - -
Total financial liabilities 4733 328 361 2 181687 2514781 2512972 (1.809) - (2937)

*Recognised as Net gains / (losses) from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss and from foreign exchange in the Consolidated income statement.

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTE 20 — FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

The table below presents information concerning the fair value of financial assets and liabilities for year 2015:

Fair value
Recognised
Valuation in other Recognised
Valuation techniques - comprehensive in profit or
Quoted techniques - un- income: loss:
market observable observable Total un- un-
price inputs inputs Total carrying Unrecognised observable observable
(level 1) (level 2) (level 3) fair value amount gain/(loss) input inputs*
MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF
Cash and cash balances with
central banks 33 148 35 567 - 68 715 68 715 - - -
Financial assets 526 685 810 409 1135 821 2472915 2431 286 41629 4 349 2027
Held for trading 39 986 39 369 2380 81735 81735 - - 2027
Designated at fair value
through profit or loss - - - - - - - -
Available for sale 127 535 30715 4 995 163 245 163 245 - 4 349 -
Loans and receivables - 623 027 1128 446 1751473 1746 912 4 561 - -
Held to maturity 359 164 106 275 - 465 439 428 371 37 068 - -
Hedging derivatives - 11023 - 11 023 11 023 - - -
Total financial assets and cash
and cash balances with central
banks 559 833 845 976 1135 821 2 541 630 2 500 001 41629 4 349 2027
Financial liabilities
Held for trading 9899 23 580 2 380 35 859 35 859 - - (2032)
Designated at fair value
through profit or loss - 216 315 - 216 315 216 315 - - -
Measured at amortised cost - 118 492 1920172 2 038 664 2 034 669 (3 995) - -
Hedging derivatives - 11 - 11 11 - - -
Total financial liabilities 9899 358 398 1922 552 2290 849 2 286 854 (3 995) - (2.032)

*Recognised as Net gains / (losses) from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss and from foreign exchange in the Consolidated income statement.

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTE 20 — FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

Hungarian government bonds have quoted market price except for some treasury bills and bonds maturing within 3
months, which are valued based on BUBOR yield curve within 3 months maturity. In 2016 held-for-trading debt
instruments in an amount of HUF 181 million were transferred from Quoted market price to Valuation techniques-
market observable inputs category due to this change in valuation (HUF 50 million in 2015).

The following evaluation tables present the change in the fair value of financial instruments for which no market
observable inputs are available.
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Balance as at 31 December 2015 2 380 - 4 349 6729
Net gains / (losses)
In profit or loss 1857 - - 1857
In other comprehensive income - - 249 249
Settlement (794) - (4 598) (5 392)
Balance as at 31 December 2016 3443 - - 3443
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Financial assets

Balance as at 31 December 2014

Net gains / (losses)

In profit or loss

In other comprehensive income
Settlement

Balance as at 31 December 2015

Financial liabilities

Balance as at 31 December 2015

Net (gains) / losses
In profit or loss
Settlement

Balance as at 31 December 2016
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NOTE 20 — FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)
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Financial liabilities £33
MHUF
Balance as at 31 December 2014 2 006
Net (gains) / losses
In profit or loss 646
Settlement (272)
Balance as at 31 December 2015 2 380

Fair value of financial instruments
Financial instruments at fair value

Held-for-trading instruments, financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale
instruments and hedging derivatives are carried at their fair value.

Financial instruments which have an active market with regularly published price quotations are marked to market.
Usually treasury bills, Hungarian government bonds, other listed bonds and listed equity instruments belong to this
category, excluding Hungarian government bonds denominated in HUF and maturing within 3 months, premium
Hungarian government bonds denominated in EUR, bonus Hungarian government bonds denominated in HUF and
some treasury bills. There are no price quotations for Hungarian government bonds denominated in HUF and
maturing within 3 months therefore they are valued based on BUBOR yield curve within 3 months maturity. For
premium Hungarian government bonds denominated in EUR no active secondary market exists therefore they are
valued at the price quoted at issuance. Since the Government grants the repurchase of the bonds at the issuance
price Management believes that the carrying amount of these bonds approximates their fair value.

If there is no active market or quoted prices for a financial instrument then valuation techniques based on observable
market parameters are used, such as discounted cash flow analysis or option pricing models. Bonus Hungarian
government bonds denominated in HUF, most of the financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
and most of the derivatives are valued based on these techniques, such as currency forwards and swaps, foreign
exchange and interest rate options, cross currency- and interest rate swaps and forward rate agreements.

When market parameters are not available, the Group uses its best estimations and assumptions to determine the
relevant circumstances which have to be taken into account during the model valuation. Valuation techniques based
on unobservable market parameters are used in case of held-for-trading exotic derivatives.

Exotic derivatives are primarily revalued by built-in models of the front office system using market observable
parameters. For which no system model exists, there are two alternatives; (1) position is either back-to-back hedged,
and the Group accepts the hedging partner prices (when hedging bank acts as valuation agent) or (2) valuation is
based on internal model based best estimates (e.g. in case of municipality bonds embedded swaption valuation).

The Group provides exotic derivatives on back to back basis, accordingly immaterial result is recorded on held-for-
trading exotic derivatives in the consolidated income statement.

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements. 58



K&H BANK ZRT.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 20 — FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

The calculation of the fair value of Visa Inc. preferred shares is based on the amount of shares the Group holds, the
conversion rate to Visa Inc. listed shares, the Visa Inc. share price as listed on the New York Stock Exchange and
the illiquidity discount.

The difference between the fair value and the transaction price of financial instruments not recognised in profit or
loss as at the beginning and the end of the period was immaterial in 2016 and 2015.

The following describes the methodology and assumptions used to determine fair values for those financial
instruments which are not recorded at fair value in the financial statements.

Available-for-sale equity instruments held at cost

Available-for-sale equity instruments contain as at 31 December 2016 equity instruments in a value of HUF 646
million (HUF 646 million at the end of 2015) which fair value cannot be measured reliably.

Management believes that the carrying value of the investments held at cost approximates their fair value (for more
information see Note 16).

Underlying the definition of fair value is the presumption that the Group is a going concern without any intention or
requirement to curtail materially the scale of its operations or to undertake a transaction on adverse terms.

Held-to-maturity instruments

Held-to-maturity instruments include Hungarian government bonds issued in HUF and EUR. The fair value of held-
to-maturity Hungarian government bonds denominated in HUF and maturing over 3 months disclosed in this Note is
calculated based on regularly quoted market prices, since these instruments have an active market. Hungarian
government bonds denominated in HUF and maturing within 3 months are valued based on BUBOR yield curve
within 3 months maturity. Hungarian government bonds issued in EUR have an active market with regularly published
price quotations and are marked to market.

For premium Hungarian government bonds denominated in EUR no active secondary market exists therefore held-
to-maturity premium Hungarian government bonds are held at the price quoted at issuance in the consolidated
financial position. Since the Government grants the repurchase of the bonds at an exit price of 98% the Group
considers this exit price for calculation of the fair value in this note.

Bonus Hungarian government bonds denominated in HUF are valued by a valuation technique where the future cash
flow is discounted by a curve calculated from IRS curves modified by asset swap and illiquidity spreads. Although
illiquidity spread is non-market observable input, due to its immaterial effect in the fair value of the asset the bond is
classified as financial instrument valued by valuation techniques — market observable inputs in the fair value
hierarchy.

Loans and receivables and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

For financial assets and financial liabilities that are liquid or have a short term remaining maturity (less than one year)
it is assumed that the carrying amounts approximate to their fair value. This assumption is also applied to demand
deposits, savings accounts without a specific maturity, and variable rate financial instruments. Fair value adjustments
of refinanced loans with fixed or variable interest are included in unrecognised gain / (loss) of loans and receivables,
fair value adjustments of refinancing liabilities with fixed or variable interest are included in unrecognised gain / (loss)
of financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

The estimated fair value of fixed interest bearing deposits with more than one year remaining maturity and refinancing
liabilities (carried at amortised cost) is based on discounted cash flows using current interbank market yield curve
appropriate for the remaining term to maturity.
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NOTE 20 — FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

The estimated fair value of fixed interest bearing assets with more than one year remaining maturity and refinanced
loans (carried at amortised cost) is based on discounted cash flows using current interbank market yield curve
appropriate for the remaining term to maturity which is adjusted with the average margin of the retail and corporate
loan portfolio of the Bank to arrive at the estimated market yield curve of the asset.

The Group believes that the carrying amount of the impaired loans is the best estimation of their fair value and
therefore does not present any unrecognised gain or loss on impaired loans and advances in this Note.

Municipality bonds in the Loans and receivables portfolio were issued in HUF. There is an embedded option which
assures that the municipality can change the denomination of the bond at any point of time during its duration to EUR
or CHF at the spot rate of the conversion date. Nevertheless, the interest spread remains unchanged over the
reference rate.

This optionality corresponds to a sold, deferred premium, American type multicurrency differential swaption from the
Group’s point of view. Cross-currency swaption of this kind is an instrument for which no market value is available
but its intrinsic value can be calculated from available market parameters. The value of the swaption is not material.

The municipality bond as such can be split to two components which fair values give the total fair value of the bond.
The two instruments are (1) bonds and, (2) swaptions. The market value of the bonds is calculated using discounted
present value of the future cash flows. The future cash flow of the bond is predicted by the default money market
yield curve. The value of swaptions is calculated regularly.

There is no active market for these municipality bonds to get market observable parameters for the revaluation
especially for credit spread which is a risk on the top of the Hungarian government bonds. To challenge the fair
valuation model, the Group uses a reasonably possible alternative assumption to increase the applied credit spread.

NOTE 21 — FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

2016 2015
MHUF MHUF
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
Term deposits:
- retail 3060 7 432
- corporate 6 688 9425
- investment funds 181 764 192 963
Other issued bonds 8619 6 495
200 131 216 315

In 2007 the Bank established a bond issuance program. The Bank, as issuer sells dematerialised bonds via public
placement. The bonds may be denominated in HUF, EUR or USD. The maturities are between 60 days and 20 years
with the interest rates being fixed or floating, linked to an index (equity, currency or commodity), or credit linked.
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NOTE 21 — FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Upon initial recognition the bonds were designated by the Bank at fair value through profit or loss as the bonds are
economically hedged by derivatives which do not achieve the criteria for hedge accounting.

Included in financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are retail and corporate term deposits
combined with currency options which are accounted for as embedded derivatives. The fair value of the deposits and
the options are not separated.

Based on the Group’s treasury policy the long term fixed rate deposits from investment funds included in financial
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are economically hedged by interest rate derivatives, and do
not qualify for hedge accounting.

The amount that the Group would contractually be required to pay at maturity is HUF 2 877 million higher than the
fair value of the deposits and issued bonds (HUF 6 152 million higher in 2015).
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NOTE 22 — FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, BREAKDOWN BY PORTFOLIO AND GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION

The Group’s financial assets, and financial liabilities before taking into account any collateral held or other credit enhancements as at 31 December 2016 can be analysed by the
following geographical regions.

Designated Measured
at fair value at
Held for through Available Loans and Held to Hedging amortised
trading profit or loss for sale receivables maturity derivatives cost Total
MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF

Financial assets

Hungary 66 748 - 192 192 1291199 426 237 - - 1976 376
EMU countries 26 501 - 6 491 391 - 15276 - 533 174
East-European countries 81 - - 3156 - - - 3 237
Russia - - - 5848 - - - 5848
Other European countries 1944 - - 3658 - 1177 - 6779
Non-European countries - - 912 7794 - - - 8 706
Total 95 274 - 193 110 1803 046 426 237 16 453 - 2534 120
Financial liabilities

Hungary 14 405 199 755 - - - - 2114018 2328 178
EMU countries 15 558 - - - - 2552 143 370 161 480
East-European countries 47 376 - - - - 4412 4 835
Russia - - - - - - 4 685 4 685
Other European countries 1796 - - - - 568 6 767 9131
Non-European countries - - - - - - 4 663 4 663
Total 31 806 200 131 - - - 3120 2277 915 2512972
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NOTE 22 — FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, BREAKDOWN BY PORTFOLIO AND GEOGRAPHIC LOCATION (continued)

The geographical breakdown of financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31 December 2015 is presented below:

Designated Measured
at fair value at
Held for through Available Loans and Held to Hedging amortised
trading profit or loss for sale receivables maturity derivatives cost Total
MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF

Financial assets

Hungary 56 654 - 158 798 1667 813 428 371 - - 2311636
EMU countries 23 534 - 88 55 652 - 10 867 - 90 141
East-European countries 9 - - 4 695 - - - 4704
Russia - - - 9 041 - - - 9 041
Other European countries 1538 - 4 359 4 572 - 156 - 10 625
Non-European countries - - - 5139 - - - 5139
Total 81735 - 163 245 1746 912 428 371 11 023 - 2431 286
Financial liabilities

Hungary 15992 215700 - - - - 1865173 2 096 865
EMU countries 16 890 30 - - - 4 151 875 168 799
East-European countries 1019 55 - - - - 4 237 5 311
Russia - - - - - - 4 808 4 808
Other European countries 1958 160 - - - 7 3917 6 042
Non-European countries - 370 - - - - 4 659 5029
Total 35 859 216 315 - - - 11 2 034 669 2 286 854
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NOTE 23 — FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, BREAKDOWN BY PORTFOLIO AND QUALITY

Credit quality per class of financial assets

The table below presents the credit quality by asset classes as at 31 December 2016:

Designated at

fair value
Held for through profit Available Loans and Held to Hedging
trading or loss for sale receivables maturity derivatives Total
MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF
Performing assets 95 259 - 193 110 1755922 426 237 16 453 2 486 981
Non-performing assets 15 - - 89 929 - - 89 944
Impairment - - - (42 805) - - (42 805)
Total carrying value 95 274 - 193 110 1803 046 426 237 16 453 2534 120
The credit quality of assets as at 31 December 2015 can be presented as follows:
Designated at
fair value
Held for through profit Available Loans and Held to Hedging
trading or loss for sale receivables maturity derivatives Total
MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF
Performing assets 81634 - 163 245 1676 155 428 371 11 023 2 360 428
Non-performing assets 101 - - 120 984 - - 121 085
Impairment - - - (50 227) - - (50 227)
Total carrying value 81735 - 163 245 1746 912 428 371 11 023 2431 286

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTE 23 — FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, BREAKDOWN BY PORTFOLIO AND QUALITY (continued)

The balances of individually impaired financial assets and commitments and contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2016 are shown in the following table.

Available- Commitments
for-sale and
equity Loans and contingent
instruments receivables liabilities Total

MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF
Individually impaired assets - 27 062 8518 35580
Individually assessed impairment - (19 616) (1978) (21 594)
Total - 7 446 6 540 13 986

The balance of individually impaired financial assets and commitments and contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2015 are presented in the table below.

Available- Commitments
for-sale and
equity Loans and contingent
instruments receivables liabilities Total

MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF
Individually impaired assets - 32412 12 345 44 757
Individually assessed impairment - (29 890) (5 960) (35 850)
Total - 2522 6 385 8 907
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NOTE 23 — FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, BREAKDOWN BY PORTFOLIO AND QUALITY (continued)

Aging analysis of past due but not impaired loans per class of financial assets

Aging analysis of past due but not impaired financial assets as at 31 December 2016 is as follows:

30 days or

Less more, but

than 30 less than
days 90 days Total
MHUF MHUF MHUF

Loans to customers

- Corporate 6 338 271 6 609
- Retail 28 170 6 067 34 237
Total 34 508 6 338 40 846

Aging analysis of past due but not impaired financial assets as at 31 December 2015 is as follows:

30 days or

Less more, but

than 30 less than
days 90 days Total
MHUF MHUF MHUF

Loans to customers

- Corporate 2675 297 2972
- Retail 30719 8 351 39 070
Total 33 394 8 648 42 042

Past due assets include those that are past due even by one day.

Collaterals behind impaired or past due financial assets amounted to HUF 114 408 million as at 31 December 2016
(HUF 139 308 million as at 31 December 2015). The amount of the collaterals includes the indexed or reviewed
collateral value limited to the carrying amount of the related asset.
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NOTE 23 — FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, BREAKDOWN BY PORTFOLIO AND QUALITY (continued)

Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account of any collateral and credit enhancements

The table below presents the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated statement of
financial position, including derivatives. The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation

through the use of master netting and collateral agreements.

2016 2015

MHUF MHUF
Debt instruments* 688 307 643 129
Loans and advances 2 008 999 1799 674
Derivatives* 56 718 51190
Other assets 14 943 18 790
Total assets 2 768 967 2512783
Commitments to extend credit 529 556 373190
Guarantees 167 334 148 037
Letters of credit 9031 11752
Total commitments and contingent liabilities 705 921 532 979
Total credit exposure 3474 888 3045 762

*For more information see Note 16.

The amounts shown above represent the current credit risk exposure, which may change over time as a result of
changes in values (derivative financial instruments, financial investments, etc.) and changes in FX rates (due to FCY
lending). The effect of collateral and other risk mitigation techniques is shown in Note 45.4.

Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit risk

Concentration of risk is managed by client/client group and by industry sector. The maximum credit exposure to any
client or counterparty as of 31 December 2016 was HUF 29 941 million (HUF 25 180 million as of 31 December

2015) before taking account of any collateral or other credit enhancements.
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NOTE 24 — REMAINING MATURITY OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The following table shows a breakdown of the financial assets and financial liabilities by expected maturity at 31

December 2016:
Without
<=1 year 1-5 year >5 year maturity Total
MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF
Financial assets
Held for trading 28 251 62 966 3498 559 95 274
Designated at fair value through - - - - -
profit or loss
Available for sale 3188 77 106 111 258 1558 193 110
Loans and receivables 935 541 496 971 370 534 - 1803 046
Held to maturity 50 120 167 532 208 585 - 426 237
Hedging derivatives 663 13413 2377 - 16 453
Total financial assets 1017 763 817 988 696 252 2117 2534120
Without
<=1 year 1-5 year >5 year maturity Total
MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF
Financial liabilities
Held for trading 15 328 15978 500 - 31 806
Designated at fair value through 92 855 106 989 287 - 200 131
profit or loss
Hedging derivatives - 255 2 865 - 3120
Measured at amortised cost 1992 434 199 156 86 325 - 2277 915
Fair value changes of hedged item
under portfolio hedge of interest rate
risk 6 185 - - - 6 185
Total financial liabilities 2 106 802 322 378 89 977 - 2519157
Commitments and contingent
liabilities 708 156 - - - 708 156
Total financial liabilities,
commitments and contingent
liabilities 2 814 958 322 378 89 977 - 3227 313
Financial assets and liabilities repayable on demand are included in the <=1 year category.
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NOTE 24 —REMAINING MATURITY OF ASSETS AND LIABILITES (continued)

The following table shows a breakdown of the financial assets and financial liabilities by expected maturity at 31

December 2015:
Without
<=1 year 1-5 year >5 year maturity Total
MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF
Financial assets
Held for trading 14 626 47 898 18 198 1013 81735
Designated at fair value through - - - - -
profit or loss
Available for sale 2880 69 664 85 706 4 995 163 245
Loans and receivables 938 844 437 980 370 088 - 1746 912
Held to maturity 88 113 207 374 132 884 - 428 371
Hedging derivatives 60 5678 5285 - 11 023
Total financial assets 1044 523 768 594 612 161 6 008 2431286
Without
<=1 year 1-5 year >5 year maturity Total
MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF
Financial liabilities
Held for trading 17770 8138 9 951 - 35 859
Designated at fair value through 79 812 132 186 4 317 - 216 315
profit or loss
Hedging derivatives - 7 4 - 11
Measured at amortised cost 1703 785 241 003 89 881 - 2 034 669
Fair value changes of hedged item
under portfolio hedge of interest rate
risk 3164 - - - 3164
Total financial liabilities 1804 531 381 334 104 153 - 2290018
Commitments and contingent
liabilities 539 191 - - - 539 191
Total financial liabilities,
commitments and contingent
liabilities 2343722 381 334 104 153 - 2 829 209
Financial assets and liabilities repayable on demand are included in the <=1 year category.
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The remaining maturity of non-financial assets and liabilities held as at 31 December 2016 is presented in the table

below.

The depreciation of property and equipment and intangible assets and deferred tax assets expected to be recorded

in 2017 are reported in the shorter than 1 year category in the table.

Tax assets

Investments in associated companies
Investment property

Property and equipment

Intangible assets

Other assets

Total assets

Tax liabilities

Provisions for risks and charges
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

<1year >1 year Total
MHUF MHUF MHUF
2750 - 2750
- 542 542
1010 - 1010
7 240 31012 38 252
2819 9241 12 060
14 943 - 14 943
28 762 40 795 69 557
36 - 36
2330 107 2437
43 020 - 43 020
45 386 107 45 493

The remaining maturity of non-financial assets and liabilities held as at 31 December 2015 is presented in the table

below.

Tax assets

Investments in associated companies
Investment property

Property and equipment

Intangible assets

Other assets

Total assets

Tax liabilities

Provisions for risks and charges
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

<1year >1 year Total
MHUF MHUF MHUF
13 603 100 13703
- 542 542

740 - 740

4 926 32 531 37 457
2676 9047 11723
18 790 - 18 790
40735 42 220 82 955
15 - 15
7292 473 7765
63 771 - 63 771
71078 473 71 551

The expected remaining maturity breakdown above represents the current and non-current classification of non-
financial assets and liabilities with the exception of deferred tax, property and equipment and intangible assets which
are non-current assets / liabilities in their entirety according to the standard.
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NOTE 25 — IMPAIRMENT ON AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

No impairment was recognised on available-for-sale assets in 2016 and 2015.

NOTE 26 — IMPAIRMENT ON LOANS AND RECEIVABLES AND PROVISION FOR CREDIT COMMITMENTS
(statement of financial position)

2016 2015
MHUF MHUF
Breakdown by type
Specific impairment for loans and receivables 39 317 46 666
Specific provision on credit commitments 1978 5960
Portfolio-based impairment and provision 3745 3813
Impairment and provision on loans and receivables and credit
commitments 45 040 56 439
2016 2015
MHUF MHUF
Breakdown by counterparty
Impairment for loans and advances to customers (excluding banks) 42 802 50 227
Impairment for debt instruments issued by municipalities 3 -
Specific and portfolio based provision, credit commitments 2235 6212
Total impairment and provision on loans and receivables and credit
commitments 45 040 56 439

For the definitions of specific and portfolio based impairments and provisions see Impairment assessment in Note
454,
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NOTE 26 — IMPAIRMENT ON LOANS AND RECEIVABLES AND PROVISION FOR CREDIT COMMITMENTS

(statement of financial position - continued)

Specific
impairment Specific provision Portfolio-based
for loans and on credit impairments
receivables commitments and provisions Total
MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF
Opening balance as at
1 January 2016 46 666 5960 3813 56 439
Movements with an
impact on results
Loan loss expenses 21225 479 7613 29 317
Loan loss recoveries (11 208) (1214) (7 761) (20 183)
Discount effect (183) 14 - (169)
Movements without an
impact on results
Write-offs (17 248) (3212) - (20 460)
Other 65 (49) 80 96
Closing balance as at
31 December 2016 39 317 1978 3745 45 040
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NOTE 26 — IMPAIRMENT ON LOANS AND RECEIVABLES AND PROVISION FOR CREDIT COMMITMENTS

(statement of financial position - continued)

Opening balance as at
1 January 2015

Movements with an
impact on results
Loan loss expenses
Loan loss recoveries
Discount effect
Movements without an
impact on results
Write-offs
Other

Closing balance as at
31 December 2015

Specific
impairment Specific provision Portfolio-based
for loans and on credit impairments

receivables commitments and provisions Total
MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF
115 438 4 465 5385 125 288
36 183 2702 9 841 48 726
(23 619) (1186) (11 633) (36 438)
(376) 7 - (369)
(18 874) - - (18 874)
(62 086) (28) 220 (61 .894)
46 666 5960 3813 56 439

HUF 62 086 million other movement in specific impairments for loans and receivables relates mainly to loans
converted to HUF according to the Curia Act representing the shift between the gross carrying amount and
impairment at the conversion date.

The Group realised HUF 12 533 million loss and HUF 4 777 gain on loans and advances sold (HUF 19 829 million

loss and HUF 12 631 million gain in 2015). The net loss was presented as write-offs in the tables above.

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Derivatives held for trading
Foreign exchange derivatives

Currency forwards

Currency futures

Currency swaps

Currency options

Total foreign exchange derivatives

Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps

Cross currency interest rate swaps
Interest rate options

Forward rate agreements

Total interest rate derivatives

Equity options
Commaodity swaps
Commodity options

Total derivatives held for trading

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges

Interest rate swaps

Derivatives designated as portfolio fair value

hedges
Interest rate swaps

Total derivatives held for hedging

Total derivative financial instruments

Year ended 31 December 2016

Year ended 31 December 2015

Negative
Notional Notional Positive fair fair Notional Notional Positive fair Negative fair
amount amount value value amount amount value value
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF
66 014 67 142 145 (1 095) 91 803 93 077 299 (1079)
29 355 29 361 96 (107) 21 229 21223 16 (11)
280 544 280 633 1441 (1 553) 448 177 448 455 1538 (1977)
284 900 284 900 3974 (3934) 194 555 194 555 3036 (3110)
660 813 662 036 5656 (6 689) 755 764 757 310 4 889 (6177)
687 075 687 074 33 586 (14 659) 525 241 525 241 32016 (15 962)
266 602 267 426 795 (2715) 268 360 268 068 1917 (2 456)
8 228 8 228 36 (36) 51730 51730 299 (299)
. - - - 51312 - - (29)
961 905 962 728 34 417 (17 410) 896 643 845 039 34 232 (18 792)
- 228 - - 448 (2)
2924 2924 120 (124) 7 802 7 802 833 (833)
1109 1109 72 (72) 3780 3780 213 (213)
1626 751 1629 025 40 265 (24 295) 1 663 989 1614 379 40 167 (25 971)
110 606 110 606 7 838 (133) 86 878 86 878 6 482 -
495 589 495 589 8615 (2987) 158 100 158 100 4 541 (11)
606 195 606 195 16 453 (3 120) 244 978 244 978 11 023 (11)
2 232 946 2 235 220 56 718 (27 415) 1908 967 1 859 357 51 190 (25 982)

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Options

Although options are not accounted for as hedges, the Group has an operational policy where the risks of options
sold and purchased are matched on a one to one basis with offsetting deals conducted with counterparties of sound
credit standing.

The Group applies hedge accounting for some of its derivatives concluded in frame of Asset and Liability
Management.

Cash flow hedge of interest rate risk

The aim of the cash-flow hedges designated by the Group is to hedge changes in cash flows group of assets and
liabilities related to changes in interest and foreign exchange rates. The hedging instruments are EUR and HUF
interest rate swaps.

Hedging relationships are subject to prospective and retrospective effectiveness measurement. Fair value changes
in hedging instruments for the effective part of the hedging relationship are recognised in other comprehensive
income and are accumulated to Cash flow hedge reserve. Since the exchange revaluation result of the hedged
assets and liabilities is recorded as Net gains / (losses) from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
and from foreign exchange, the foreign exchange revaluation effect of the hedging cross currency interest rate swaps
recorded in Other comprehensive income was transferred to the Consolidated income statement at the same time.

The Group transferred HUF 100 million gain to the net profit from other comprehensive income excluding the
ineffective part (536 million gain in 2015). In 2016 the Group transferred HUF 272 million loss to the net profit due to
ineffectiveness (HUF 313 million loss in 2015). The result of the transfers were recorded as Net gains / (losses) from
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss and from foreign exchange in the consolidated income
statement.

The periods when the cash flows are expected to occur are the following:

2016 2015
Expected cash flows Expected cash flows

Inflow Outflow Inflow Outflow

MHUF MHUF MHUF MHUF
< 3 months 226 (150) 208 (213)
3-6 months 258 - 206 (83)
6 months - 1 year 1435 (32) 1191 (276)
1-2 years 1920 (228) 1697 (557)
2-5 years 4 681 (1 890) 4 605 (2 324)
> 5 years 164 (157) 971 (572)
Total 8 684 (2 457) 8 878 (4 025)

Forecast transactions for which hedge accounting had previously been used but which is no longer expected to occur
amounted to HUF 8 million as at 31 December 2016 (no transaction as at 31 December 2015).

The accompanying notes on pages 11 to 122 are an integral part of these financial statements. 75
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Portfolio fair value hedge of interest rate risk

The risk to be hedged under portfolio fair value hedge of interest rate risk is interest rate risk, arising from changes
in fair value of portfolio of non-maturity deposits to changes in the risk-free (interest rate swap) yield curve. The
hedging instruments are HUF interest rate swaps.

The accumulated fair value changes of hedged item under portfolio hedge of interest rate risk is presented separately
in the consolidated statement of financial position and amounted to HUF 6 185 million loss in 2016 (HUF 3 164 million
loss in 2015). The loss recorded on the hedged item was compensated by a gain recorded on the hedging instrument
in the same amount. The fair value changes of the hedged item and the hedging instrument in the current year is
recorded as Net gains / (losses) from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss and from foreign
exchange in the consolidated income statement.

Individual fair value hedge of fixed rate available-for-sale bonds

The Group usually ensures the sufficient level of liquid assets by purchase of available-for-sale government bonds.
The Group defines the risk to be hedged as the interest rate risk arising from changes in fair value of available-for-
sale bonds to changes in the risk-free (interest rate swap) yield curve. The hedging instruments are fixed rate payer-
floating rate receiver (BUBOR 3M-6M) interest rate swaps.

The changes in the fair value of the available-for-sale government bonds and the interest rate swaps due to interest
rate risk are offset in the consolidated income statement and the unhedged credit spread of the bonds remains in the
consolidated other comprehensive income. The change in the fair value of the hedged instrument amounted to a
gain of HUF 1 961 million in 2016 (a loss of HUF 110 million in 2015).

NOTE 28 — OTHER ASSETS

2016 2015

MHUF MHUF

Prepayments 174 3141
Trade receivables 656 649
Receivables from employees 4 15
Receivables from bankcard service 7140 4 521
Items in transit due to payment services 1013 550
Receivables from compensation 59 30
Items in transit due to trading in securities 50 53
Income accruals and cost prepayments 4 553 4 365
Inventories 695 4916
Other receivables 599 550
14 943 18 790

Trade receivables and receivables from bankcard and payment services are performing short term receivables
without any delay. Other receivables include a HUF 307 million non-performing other claim due to retail clients (HUF
303 million in 2015) for which a HUF 254 million impairment 